Gap Analysis of Research Literature on Issues Related to **Street-Involved Youth**

Prepared by CS/RESORS Consulting Ltd. for

Research and Statistics Division

rr2002-8e



Research and Statistics Division

March 2001

Department of Justice

The views expressed in this report are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Justice Canada.

GAP ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH LITERATURE ON ISSUES RELATED TO STREET-INVOLVED YOUTH

Prepared by CS/RESORS Consulting Ltd. for Research and Statistics Division

rr2002-8e



March 2001

The present study was funded by the Research and Statistics Division, Department of Justice Canada. The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Justice Canada.

Gap Analysis of Research Literature on Issues Related to

Street-Involved Youth

Table of Contents

Preface	iv
About the Author	ii
Executive Summary	iv
1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Antecedent Family Background	2
2.1 Background and Gender	3
2.2 Background and Sexual Orientation	3
2.3 Background and Aboriginal Ancestry	3
3.0 Conditions and Experiences of Street Life	4
3.1 Poverty	5
3.1.1 Income and Unemployment	5
3.1.2 Finding Shelter	7
3.1.3 Finding Food	9
3.2 Health Problems	10
3.3 Victimization	16
3.3.1 Experiences with Racism	16
3.3.2 Homophobia	18
3.3.3 Self-destructiveness as Victimization	19
3.3.4 Criminal Activities as Victimization	19
4.0 A Vulnerable Population	20
4.1 Research Methodologies	21
5.0 Programmatic Responses To Street-Involved Youth	25
6.0 Research Gaps: Issues and Information	27
Appendices Appendix A – Annotated Bibliography Appendix B – Bibliography	

Preface

In March 2000, the Deputy Minister and Attorney General of Canada hosted a one-day symposium on access to justice, titled *Expanding Horizons: Rethinking Access to Justice in Canada*. The purpose of the Symposium was to explore new directions and identify emerging challenges for assuring access to justice for Canadians in an increasingly complex and demanding environment. Approximately 100 people from across the country attended the Symposium, including members of the judiciary, representatives from the Law Commission, officials from the highest ranks of the police, justice service practitioners, and leading thinkers from outside the justice domain.

The symposium left all participants with one resounding message, quite remarkably, from a large group of leading thinkers from within the justice system and from other areas of human endeavor. The key message was not so much that the justice system – both civil and criminal justice, but especially the criminal justice system – does not work. On that issue there *was* overwhelming agreement. The truly surprising message that emanated forcefully from this conversation was that there is a tremendous appetite for change among leaders from both inside and outside the justice system.

The Symposium did not produce a recipe for change, however it produced a strong endorsement for experimentation – and to get on with the job of exploring options for change forthwith – and a set of themes that can act as guideposts toward innovative and more accessible forms of justice. Some of the symposium findings included access to the justice system is not access to (social) justice, providing justice is contingent upon recognizing diversity and diverse needs (one size does not fit all), and considerable support for community-based and holistic justice-related programs and initiatives.

This report is part of the Research and Statistics Division's on-going commitment to further explore the results of the Deputy Minister's symposium on access to justice and identify key issues that relate to this important policy area. One area of examination is access to (social) justice for street involved youth. Access to justice barriers for this population include much more than access to the formal legal system (e.g. access to housing, education, employment and health services). To help understand the various "access" issues experienced by street involved youth, the Division commissioned a review of the literature in this area to examine the state of knowledge and research needs. The results of this report will assist the Division and other interested partners in identifying possible research projects on street-involved youth.

About the Author

CS/RESORS Consulting is an established social policy research and program evaluation company with a main office in Vancouver and associates in Ottawa and Montréal. The team of highly experienced professionals provides a nation-wide research capability in both official languages (as well as in Cantonese, in our Vancouver office). CS/RESORS staff and associates combine over five decades of experience using the most effective methodologies. Extensive research and project management in government settings, long experience with community organizations and their policy concerns, strong academic background, and a highly professional, consultative style of client service - these qualities characterize the team and the performance of CS/RESORS Consulting Ltd. CS/RESORS Consulting has completed several justice-related projects, including research and evaluation in the areas of sexual assault, child sexual abuse, violence against women and corrections.

Gap Analysis of Research Literature on Issues Related to Street-Involved Youth

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A survey was conducted of research materials published since 1990 dealing with background, experiences, behaviours and programming needs of street-involved youth in Canada. The goals of the literature review were: 1) to identify key characteristics of street-involved youth; 2) to explore how these characteristics are transected by factors of familial background and the conditions and experiences of street life in such a way as to create a constellation of risks for young people who spend significant amounts of time on the street; 3) to examine the range of research methodologies used in these studies of street youth; 4) to briefly examine programmatic responses to their service needs; and 5) to identify gaps in research that, if appropriately addressed, could contribute significantly to a better understanding of this phenomenon and to the development of more effective programmatic responses.

A variety of web- and print-based resources were examined, including academic sources and publications of federal, provincial and municipal governments and community organizations. A substantial bibliography was compiled, focusing on Canadian sources but including American ones of particular relevance.

Appendices include an annotated bibliography consisting of 22 publications considered by the authors to be key research documents on street-involved youth; and a comprehensive bibliography of 189 sources published since 1990, which were identified and surveyed for this review.

There is a substantial amount of current material on Canadian street youth, but the gaps in research are considerable, both in terms of subject matter, and size or scope of studies. The field is characterized by highly localized, case study research, often having the benefit of an ethnographic approach, which typically allow the youth to give their personal accounts of living circumstances and service needs. Along with the gaps in specific subject matter, there is a lack of large-scale research that would allow a more complete view of the street youth situation. Nor are there enough localized case studies having methodologies that are sufficiently comparable to allow aggregation of findings across regions or nationally. The research gaps are listed below, rather than the descriptive findings from the studies reviewed, because of the potential value of

this review for the development of research frameworks in future. The gaps the authors feel should be addressed are as follows (in no particular order of priority):

- Antecedent family physical and sexual abuse: analysis by gender and Aboriginal ancestry.
- Youths' decision-making patterns related to finding employment and budgeting or managing income, cross-referenced to age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- A systematic study of housing: including an assessment of conditions in youth shelters, including hostels, and the development of models for appropriate youth-centred multi-stage housing.
- Links between mental illness in street-involved youth and age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- Attitudes and beliefs of street-involved youth with regard to HIV/AIDS prevention programming available; cross-referenced with age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- Youth needs for a range of information about survival basics such as housing, access to medical services, other programming; and what types of communication media are most likely to be effective.
- Identification of culturally appropriate programming that could be used in health care and social service centres for Aboriginal street youth.
- In-depth analysis of the reproductive health of female street-involved youth, addressing both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal perceptions about conception, pregnancy rates, birth control practices, strategies for coping with pregnancy, self-care during pregnancy, care of infants.
- Study of the formation of two-parent or extended family units among heterosexual couples, same-sex couples, or fictive kin among Aboriginal, non-Aboriginal, heterosexual, lesbian, gay male and bisexual street youth developed as a coping mechanism.
- Investigation of the role of racism in the experiences of street youth whether internalized attitudes, or the attitudes and behaviours of peers, service providers, the justice system, educational system or other key players in the life of street youth.

- Study of street-involved youth of Asian, Hispanic or other ethnic origins, to determine their participation in this life, antecedents, possible programming strategies that would be culturally appropriate and more likely to be effective.
- Study of impacts of internalized and externally-located homophobia upon street-involved youth.
- In-depth study of street-involved youth with disabilities incidence, types, impacts on life on the street, potential programming to assist these youth.
- In-depth "meta-analysis" of programmatic responses already in existence for street youth in general and/or particular sub-groups (age groups, ethno-cultural, females, gay/lesbian/bi-sexual/transgendered), drawing on evaluation research findings for the programs.
- In-depth "meta-analysis" of methodologies used that most incorporate youth, but which still utilize accepted standards of methodological rigour.

Gap Analysis of Research Literature on Issues Related to Street-Involved Youth

By CS/RESORS Consulting, Ltd.

1.0 Introduction

Street youth have been the subject of a number of studies and related policy discussions, but a review of the literature from 1990 on reveals appreciable gaps in coverage of certain important issues. The primary intent of this review is two-fold: 1) to explore relationships between key background variables of youth and their experience on the street and 2) to identify gaps in the literature that may be considered in the planning of future research. Secondarily, the review is to examine research methodologies that may offer promise for a youth-focused research strategy in future and to review programmatic responses to the needs of street youth. In all cases, the emphasis is on Canadian studies, but where they are particularly relevant or illuminating, findings from other locations will be noted.

For the purposes of this study, the key background characteristics of street-involved youth are: by antecedent family background, gender, ethnicity, and sexual orientation. These are then reflected against factors such as: terms of conditions and experiences of street sub-culture, including poverty, hunger, insecure shelter, poor health, and forms of victimization such as racism and homophobia. These complex conditions – background and day-to-day living –

^{1.} Research sources for this survey have been identified and listed using such Internet search tools as EBSCOHost Academic Search, CARL, and Medline, database including Humanities and Social Science Index, Social Work Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts, and First Nations Periodical Index, and website search engines such as Google. As well, federal and provincial government websites and some print indexes of periodicals were searched. Finally, print bibliographies in books and articles discovered through other means were scanned for additional titles.

Key search terms such as street-involved youth, street youth/gay/female, youth-at-risk, homeless youth, and adolescent runaways/throwaway were used to narrow the searches. Both Canadian and American references have been included, although titles relating to specific local programs in the United States have been excluded. Titles that

combine to create conditions for street-involved youth that make them particularly vulnerable to violence.

2.0 Antecedent Family Background

The majority of sources surveyed describe virtually identical features for antecedent, or family backgrounds of homeless adolescents in both Canada and the United States: poverty, neglect, physical, emotional or sexual abuse by one or both parents, parental alcohol and/or drug abuse, parental involvement in and conviction for criminal behaviour, and generally conflicted and destructive home environments (see Canadian sources: Baron 1999; Brannigan and Caputo 1993; Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994; Hagan and McCarthy 1994; McCarthy 1995; McCreary Society 2001; Weber 1991; and United States sources: Busen and Beach 1997; Clatts *et al.* 1999, 1998; Fitzgerald 1995; Kaufman and Widom; Kipke, Palmer *et al.*;; Rotheram-Borus, Mahler et al. 1996; Whitbeck, Hoyt, and Ackley 1999).

Fitzgerald (1995:718) remarks that the lives of street-involved and homeless youths (in the US) "...reflect the long-term and continuing effects of unsupportive, damaging backgrounds." McCarthy's (1995:47) Canadian data also demonstrate that, compared with youth in stable family backgrounds, youth who live on the street have "...disproportionately higher levels of family physical and sexual abuse ...[and] parents ...[with] substance abuse problems." As well, a study of Toronto street youth in substance abuse treatment refers to antecedent sexual abuse as a characteristic of survey respondents (Smart and Ogborne 1994:739). In a more recent study, Whitbeck, Hoyt, and Ackley's (1997:526) comment that "the family portraits that emerge ...involve troubled family relationships often characterized by sexual exploitation, mutual aggression, and violence" is confirming of other findings.

seemed to refer only to street prostitution were omitted.

2.1 Background and Gender

In that street-involved youth are vulnerable to victimization through prostitution, and that it is generally accepted that the majority of those engaged in prostitution are females, it is interesting that so few studies reviewed have a gender analysis of street youth. Although Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly comment that 25% of Ottawa youth (1994:30) reported physical or sexual abuse and 18.3% of Saskatoon youth (1994:30) reported being "abused in some way" as a reason for leaving home, unfortunately no further analysis by type of abuse or by gender is provided. In a study of child prostitutes in Vancouver, Webber (1991:98) notes that 80% of the girls and 17% of the boys had been sexually abused at home. But child prostitutes are further along the trajectory of vulnerability and exploitation than are the street youth that form the subject of this review. A number of American studies (*e.g.*, Rotheram-Borus, Mahler, *et al.* 1996; Terrell 1997; Whitbeck and Simons 1990) indicate that adolescent females living on the street are considerably more likely to have experienced sexual abuse at home. But this gender breakdown of findings remains the exception rather than the rule.

2.2 Background and Sexual Orientation

Lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth report homophobic reactions and homophobic victimization and violence at home and in school (Hunter 1990:299; Kruks 1991:516; Sullivan 1996:59). Sullivan, in his San Francisco study (1996:59), observes "...many gay and bisexual youths become 'throwaway' children, ejected from their homes and prematurely left to their own devices."

2.3 Background and Aboriginal Ancestry

The findings on the relationships between Aboriginal street youth and their families point to the importance of considering ethnic or cultural traditions in the experience of – and response to – street-involved youth. For example, a study of Aboriginal young people on the streets in Saskatoon shows that there is not a strict boundary between home and the street. The youth may

indeed leave home, but do not appear to "run away from home" in the usual sense of this term. In fact, the youth "...remain 'connected' with family...[and] intermittently connected to institutions such as schools" (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994a:10). Although family conflict and abusive backgrounds are mentioned (p.30) as reasons for leaving home, the Saskatoon study does not include specific information on types of abuse experienced at home by Aboriginal youth; recent anecdotal and media reports on widespread sexual abuse among Aboriginal families, often as a result of residential school experiences, suggest that a connection between this phenomenon and Aboriginal family background might be explored. The reasons why Aboriginal street youth in Saskatoon do remain connected with family and home, while non-Aboriginal youth who have been sexually abused do not, is not addressed anywhere in the literature.

In reference to service use, there is consistent documentation of a lack of culturally sensitive services and resources for Aboriginal youth involved in street life (e.g., Caputo, Weiler and Kelly 1994a:11). Research that takes into account cultural differences in relationships with families would be informative for the development of services that would be more culturally appropriate and hence, it is assumed, more effective.

3.0 Conditions and Experiences of Street Life

A constellation of factors contributes to the harshness and instability of the day-to-day life of street-involved youth. In the following discussion we review the extent to which poverty in street youth, as indicated by lack of employment and financial resources and a lack of shelter and food, is dealt with in the literature. Findings on situational factors such as problems of poor health, racism, homophobia, and other forms of victimization will follow. Where possible, the impact of these factors on street-involved youth will be examined in terms of gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.

3.1 Poverty

Numerous studies (e.g., Baron 1999; Brannigan and Caputo 1993; Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994a, 1994b; Fitzgerald 1995; McCarthy 1995; McCarthy and Hagan 1992; Webber 1991) refer to the poverty of youth involved with the street. For example, McCarthy notes that once on the street, most Vancouver youth spend much of their time searching for food, shelter, and employment. Unfortunately, these searches are often unsuccessful and a majority of street youth frequently go hungry and sleep in unsafe places. These experiences left many of these youth "shaken and scared..." (McCarthy, (1995:47).

Webber (1991:14) describes this economic deprivation in vivid terms:

Life on the streets is a scavenger's existence, a restless hunt for cash or for anything that can be converted into cash or a bed or a meal or drugs to sustain the hunter for one more day... First snow does not signal time to take goose-down parkas to the dry cleaner. It triggers fear: of numbing cold, of constant fatigue because it is too risky to allow yourself to sleep in a frost. (1991:14)

3.1.1 Income and Unemployment

No Canadian or American studies were discovered that provide a systematic, in-depth analysis of how street-involved youth acquire income, find employment, and budget or use the income they do acquire. (Given this gap, it is to be expected that there is little analysis in terms of gender, sexual orientation, or Aboriginal ancestry.) What we do find are descriptions of a chaotic daily life, lived in conditions of extreme deprivation, but where economic factors are addressed largely in the context of the relationship to drug and alcohol use (Baron, 1999). In earlier studies, researchers locate economic factors within the context of their contribution to criminal behaviours. For instance, Baron and Hartnagel (1998:184) identify low income as "...the only consistent significant predictor across four ...types of violent crime." (These four types were

robbery, aggravated assault, group fights, and simple assault.) (See also, Baron and Hartnagel,1998 and McCarthy and Hagan,1992)

In a study of Ottawa street youth, only 15.4% of responding street youth told Caputo *et al*. (1994b:32) that lack of money was the most important problem they faced. However, in their discussion of employment opportunities for young people on the street in Ottawa, the same research team predicts that given the lack of education, marketable skills, and the fact of having a lifestyle conducive to steady employment, "...most runaways and street youth will never experience a career in the conventional sense. Most will move between low-paying marginal jobs in the service sector and living on some form of social assistance" (1994a:17).

In a 1995 study of youth on the streets in Vancouver, McCarthy (p.23) identifies panhandling, social assistance, and crime as the three major sources of their income, although he also describes other employment in low-skill, service occupations that typically hire adolescents. These include food services, janitorial, and retail sales work. He also mentions some employment in certain occupational areas that are less typical for adolescents, such as trades and clerical work.

Respondents stated that they had received social assistance at least once during their time on the street. Seventy-five percent of the youth interviewed said that they had engaged in panhandling, but for most this was a very modest source of funds, most street youth making "considerably less" than the \$30 to \$50 a day that a few reported from this source (McCarthy, 1995:24).

Moreover, 80% of McCarthy's respondents had not been employed at all since they started living on the street. Webber (1991:167) states that "...most of the youngsters [she] interviewed...periodically...work for wages that cannot both feed and house them."

McCarthy and Hagan (1992:623) investigated what they termed the "foreground" factors contributing to criminal delinquency. By this they mean the conditions and situations on the street rather than in the family background. They found that unemployment, especially among

adolescent females, significantly related only to one outcome – prostitution. Other studies (e.g., Greene *et al.* 1999; Moon *et al.* 2000; Sullivan 1996) make a distinction between prostitution and "survival sex," the selling of sex to meet subsistence needs. "It includes the exchange of sex for shelter, food, drugs, or money ...[and is] among the most damaging repercussions of homelessness among youths" (Greene *et al.* 1999:1406). However, there is scant information on this source of income that compares patterns of engagement by gender or sexual orientation, other than findings that show that both male and female youth have participated in survival sex.

3.1.2 Finding Shelter

In the sources surveyed, there is considerable information about the problems street youth have of finding shelter, the types of shelter they do find, and the dangers associated with shelter. Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly's (1994c:30) case study of street-involved youth in Saskatoon states that 18.3% of respondents had "marginal living situations...in temporary shelters, with 'friends' or on the street." Nearly 40% of respondents lived with one or two parents or with other relatives, and the remainder had places of their own or were in foster care. However, as the authors point out, the explanation for the high number of youth with fairly stable living arrangements seems to be that the greatest proportion of their respondents are Aboriginal and, as noted earlier, Aboriginal street-involved youth are rarely made to leave by parents or relatives, nor once on the street do they tend to sever ties with families. This situation is not generally found among non-Aboriginal street youth. On the other hand, the researchers were told that, among street-involved Aboriginal youth, "living with parents or relatives may mean little more than having a place to sleep" and that young people of First Nations ancestry were apparently as likely as non-Aboriginal to find staying at home "intolerable." The authors report that the service providers in Saskatoon they interviewed interpret this pattern of moving back and forth from home to the street to other relatives as reflecting the strength of kinship ties and responsibilities among Aboriginal people. They consider this pattern to be something of an Aboriginal tradition of "camping out" rather than running away (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994c:31). Moreover, it

is noteworthy that emergency street shelters such as the Salvation Army were rarely used by street-involved youth in this study, whether of First Nations background or not, and over 50% of all respondents said they did not know of any emergency shelter locations.

From a Vancouver study, McCarthy provides a detailed account of the places where street-involved youth seek shelter. He remarks that since there were no hostels exclusively for young people in the city at the time of the interviews, Vancouver youth spent considerable time sleeping "...on balconies, roof-tops, in doorways, hotels and a variety of other places." According to 80% of McCarthy's respondents, walking around all night was not uncommon; others spent the night in an all-night cafe, in empty cars, or in abandoned buildings where they might stay for one or two months. Parks were also utilized, though usually in the company of one or two friends, since parks were, and continue to be regarded as very unsafe locations for street youth after dark. (McCarthy, 1995:26-27).

Ayerst (1999:570) explains how searching for secure shelter can lead to negative coping strategies, when Canadian street youth "...commonly take amphetamines or other 'uppers' in order to stay awake throughout the night so that they are not 'jumped' (attacked or robbed) while sleeping." Smart and Walsh (1993:51-52) make a similar statement, concluding that the amount of time that street youth spend in hostels is strongly associated with depression, since street-involved youth with particularly low self-esteem may be "...less able to cope with the problem of accommodations and more often [may] require hostels...which are sometimes dirty, noisy, dangerous, and overcrowded," thus deepening their depression. Webber's (1991:140) interview with one street youth prompts her to comment that "hostels seem to be particularly dangerous places to sleep: 'It's the kind of place where tempers flare up...You got to sleep wearing your clothes, or on top of all your possessions, or they get stolen'." Webber (1991:159) views hostels as "decrepit storehouses of misery. At one level, they provide relief from distress. At another level, they serve as a penalty for failure."

Our search of the literature did not locate any studies focusing on an assessment of the appropriateness of shelters such as hostels for street youth. However, McCarthy and Hagan emphasize that problems of inadequate shelter and attempts to find shelter are clearly contributing factors to youth turning to serious theft and to prostitution for sheer survival (1992:597).

3.1.3 Finding Food

McCarthy and Hagan (1992:614) find a strong association between street youths' search for shelter and food and involvement with street crime. Moreover, they note that "...hunger alone has a substantial and statistically significant effect on theft of food" from stores on the street. In his 1995 study of street-involved youth in Vancouver, McCarthy refers to hunger again, noting that 75% of street youth "...said they had gone a full day without eating 'a few times' or 'often'." Though youth could at times obtain food from social service agencies, they frequently scavenged food from garbage dumpsters, and 80% admitted to stealing food (1995:25).

Antoniades and Tarasuk explore the problems of hunger and of obtaining food in greater detail. They interviewed a sample of 88 street youth, consisting of 49 males and 39 females, about "food acquisition practices, food-related concerns, and perceived barriers to food sufficiency" (1998:371). They found, for example, that "youth who were living on the street or in a 'squat', and those whose major source of income was squeegeeing or panhandling, appeared most vulnerable to food deprivation" (1998: 373). The authors attribute the vulnerability to hunger of this group of street youth to the fact that they had the least contact with family or friends who might feed them. Antoniades and Tarasuk also asked youth who reported problems getting enough food to eat what would be required to help them to eat better. Most respondents answered that adequate income, access to cooking facilities, and stable housing were essential, "…but several youth also noted that improved access to and service at charitable food programs

would be of help" (1998:373-4). However, Webber states that street youth characterize this food source as "charity food" and as being "...poor food ...heavy on starches and sugars...and light on protein, minerals, and vitamins." Street youth told her that wherever possible, they avoided food from food banks and instead made "... 'burger runs' from behind ...[fast food restaurants] that discard food after it has staled under heat lamps" and she concludes that, overall, street kids eat "rarely and poorly" (Webber, 1991:161).

The Antoniades and Tarasuk study is also noteworthy because five young women in the sample were either pregnant or breastfeeding. Interestingly, none of the five reported experiencing severe food deprivation and with just one of the respondents indicating that she had gone hungry during this time (Antoniades and Tarasuk 1998:373).

Overall, from the sources reviewed which discussed the issue of food and street youth, there did not seem to be any significant gender differences in access to food, and the authors do not mention ethnic or racial background of the respondents.

3.2 Health Problems

Determining the health status of street-involved youth is a complex and wide-ranging task. Both physical and emotional health problems are investigated in the literature. Hwang (2001) chronicles a host of physical health problems afflicting street adults and youth in Canada, including the risk of HIV/AIDS infection, other STDs (especially *gonorrhea* and *chlamydia*), Hepatitis B viral infection, substance abuse and addiction, asthma, tuberculosis and other respiratory infections, anaemia, vitamin deficiencies and other nutritional problems, skin infections and infestations, dental, and foot problems. Emotional or mental problems are also prevalent among street-involved young people and include depression and suicidal tendencies, personality disorders such as obsessive-compulsive behaviours, and psychoses such as schizophrenia (Busen and Beech 1997:317).

In addition, street-involved young people are prone to injuries and death from accidents and violent attacks, suicide, and disease. According to Roy, Boivin, *et al.* (1998:32), the mortality rate among street youth in Montreal is "strikingly high" when compared to that of youth living in stable family situations.

One aspect of the health of street-involved youth that does not appear to have been a subject of interest in any of the research materials investigated is that of street youth with disabilities. Why this should be is not clear, but it does seem likely that it is a reflection of the more general social invisibility of persons of disabilities. This would be an obvious subject for future research, as we will note again later, and which should include both visible and invisible disabilities. Learning disabilities and Fetal Alcohol/Narcotics Syndrome/Effect would be prime examples of the latter.

The alarmingly high incidence of HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis B viral infections among street-involved youth as a whole in Canada is well-documented and linked to "...the high incidence of sexual abuse reported by runaway and homeless girls prior to leaving home" (Athey 1991:520), high-risk sexual behavior (e.g., Brannigan and Caputo 1993; Hwang 2001; Roy, Lemire, *et al.* 1998; Sullivan 1996) such as unprotected sex with multiple sex partners, particularly among gay, lesbian, and bisexual youth, and to injection drug use (Haley *et al.* 1998; Hwang 2001; Roy, Lemire, *et al.* 1998). However, there is apparently very little research dealing with these infections among Aboriginal street-involved youth. Given their relative over-representation among street youth, and the particular health risks to which Aboriginal groups are exposed, this is a decided research deficit.

Substance abuse as a risk factor in the lives of street-involved youth in Canada has been investigated by several authors (e.g., Baron and Hartnagel 1998; Brannigan and Caputo 1993; Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994b, 1994c; Fitzgerald 1995; Hwang 2001; Webber 1991). What is

of interest is that all of these studies stress that alcohol and drug use is part of a cluster of interrelated factors that contribute both to health problems among young people and also to such problematic behaviors as criminal activity and violence. Baron and Hartnagel, however, caution that although simple assault is linked to recreational alcohol use, this form of violence is also a product of "...association with criminal peers and the stresses of poverty" (1999:185).

Substance abuse is reported as a frequently used means of coping with the array of painful and stressful experiences faced by street-involved youth (Fitzgerald 1995:722). Most would agree with Webber (1991:225) that:

More than typical adolescents, street kids are beset with oppressive problems, both those they bring from home and those they acquire on the street. They have more than the average need to escape. Killing the pain of their existence... is the most compelling lure drugs offer. Addictions develop naturally out of the vulgar business of living in the street because some kids can cope with what is being done to their bodies only by being out of their minds. Drugs offer ... illusion. (Webber, 1991:225)

The mental and physical health outcomes of such escape strategies are often life threatening. Depression, suicidal tendencies, and other forms of mental illness associated with drug and alcohol abuse are noted by Hwang (2001:231), although in their study of Toronto street youth, Smart and Walsh (1993:51) maintain that "the best indicators of current depression...were [low] self-esteem and amount of time spent in hostels." The health risks of injection drugs, specifically HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis B viral infections, are well documented for youth (e.g. Haley, Roy, *et al.* 1998; Roy, Haley, *et al.* 1999). In addition to disease morbidity and mortality, alcohol and drug use are also part of a spiral of problems related to criminal activity, violence and the very real possibility of early death (Baron and Hartnagel 1998; Hwang 2001; Roy, Lemire, *et al.* 1998).

The prevalence of depression among street-involved youth is the subject of at least two recent Canadian studies (Ayerst 1990; Smart and Walsh 1993). Both studies link the deeper levels of depression among homeless youth to low self-esteem and such stressors as insecure and potentially violent sleeping places such as hostels and the lack of a stable support network. For example, Crowe and Hardill's (1993:21) survey found that in a one-year period in Toronto, 21% of homeless women were sexually assaulted. While the study did not distinguish victims by age, this finding shows clearly the hazard to the mental and physical well being of young women. The reality of sexual assault may well be one of the sources of depression among young women who are street-involved. This remains to be studied, however.

As well, there are no full-scale studies investigating how depression among street-involved youth may be linked to gender, Aboriginal ancestry, or sexual orientation.

There is a very interesting study conducted by a medical anthropologist that examines attitudes and ideas held by American street-involved youth about HIV/AIDS information distributed to them (Sobo *et al.*,1997). Results indicate a high degree of skepticism and misunderstanding, especially among female and African-American street youth, toward the advice of AIDS experts. These findings led the researchers to question the effectiveness of the preventive material distributed to street-involved youth. Their findings suggest it would be fruitful to undertake a full-scale, ethnographically-based study in Canada involving extensive participant observation among street youth, in order to learn what kinds of HIV/AIDS educational materials would be more culturally sensitive and more likely to be accepted and heeded by high-risk street-involved youth. No further analysis was undertaken to determine if there are differences in degrees of acceptance or rejection of similar education materials based on gender, sexual orientation, or Aboriginal or other ethnic or cultural groupings.

Health care services for street-involved youth in Vancouver, Saskatoon and Ottawa have been studied. Chand and Thompson (1997:16, 18, 20) note the need for expanded drug and alcohol treatment facilities and programs, for enhanced mental health services, and for medical and dental clinics located close to areas where street youth spend their days. They observe, further, that one of the major obstacles to taking advantage of existing medical facilities is that street-involved youth are confused about their eligibility for medical coverage (1997:19). Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly (1994c:22) in their study of street-involved youth in Saskatoon state that health care services for Aboriginal youth in that city are not culturally sensitive and do not incorporate Aboriginal healing traditions. Additional research may be warranted in other Canadian cities to determine if this is a problem elsewhere, and to identify approaches to healing that would be appropriate for street-involved Aboriginal youth.

Furthermore, reproductive health of young women involved in street life is a concern. There has been no systematic study of pregnancy rates in this population, but according to Hwang "anecdotal reports suggest that pregnancy is common among street youth in Canada; in a recent study in the United States, 10% of homeless females aged 14-17 years were found to be pregnant" (2001:231). Fitzgerald (1995:718) refers to homeless youth in Canada as "...a new class of 'untouchables'...who are functionally illiterate, disconnected from school, depressed, prone to drug use and early criminal activity, and eventually, *parents of unplanned and unwanted babies*" (italics added). Greene and Ringwalt's (1998:370) comparison of lifetime pregnancy rates among three cohorts of homeless youth in the United States reports that youth living on the street had lifetime pregnancy rates that were four times that of young women living in stable households.

Greene and Ringwalt offer several explanations for the alarmingly high rates: antecedent sexual abuse in the home, which may have resulted in pregnancy; multiple sex partners; survival sex practices/prostitution; inability to afford effective contraceptives; vulnerability to sexual assault;

and limited access to or use of medical and family planning services. They (1998:375) also state that pregnancies among street-involved adolescents may be either under-reported, if young women did not know they were pregnant or were reluctant to admit to pregnancy, or over-reported, if they were malnourished and underweight, using drugs, or suffering stress which was misinterpreted by the young woman as menstrual periods missed due to pregnancy. The researchers conclude with a discussion of policy recommendations directed at street-involved youth. These include the development of pregnancy prevention and safe sex programs, condom distribution, prenatal services close to centres where homeless youth live, infant care education projects, and independent living and job training programs for female street youth with infants (Greene and Ringwalt, 1998:376).

Chand and Thompson (1997:21,31) also recommend child-care subsidies as part of educational programs for street youth and parent support programs for young parents who are street-involved. They also suggest that street-involved youth who are parents should be consulted in the design, development, staffing and delivery of child-care services. However, it should be noted that a pilot study undertaken by Goldman (1988:1041) among 50 Toronto street-involved youth found that almost half of the teenage girls believed themselves to be at little or no risk of becoming pregnant, even though there had been eight pregnancies in the group. Only one-third of the girls used a reliable, regular method of birth control. The denial also applied to sexually transmitted diseases.

This pattern of "misconception" that clearly leads to actual conception would seem to parallel the findings of Sobo *et al.* (1997) regarding AIDS misconceptions among runaway adolescents. It warrants further study. Moreover, not only has there been no in-depth study of pregnancy rates among street-involved young women, but there appears to be a glaring gap in research about how homeless and street-involved adolescent females, whether Aboriginal or non-Aboriginal, attempt to prevent pregnancy, cope with pregnancy, care for themselves during pregnancy, and ultimately

care for and cope with their infants. Moreover, little is known of attempts to establish two-parent or "extended" street families, whether based on heterosexual couples, same-sex couples, or fictive kin ties.

3.3 Victimization

Street youth are often at risk of many kinds of victimization. These include the negative effects of racism, homophobia, and various forms of harassment as well as direct violence. It is not uncommon for street youth to be victimized by other street youth. In the next sections (3.3.1 – 3.3.4) we discuss in more detail several complicating factors related to victimization of street youth – racism, homophobia, self-destructiveness, and criminal activities.

3.3.1 Experiences with Racism

There is very little in the literature on the subject of racism in the sub-culture of Canadian street-involved youth. Though there may be youth of various racial backgrounds on the street, the most evident and numerically over-represented group is Aboriginal youth. Yet, Aboriginal street-involved youth are discussed at length in only one study located for this review (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994c). A substantial minority (20%) of Aboriginal respondents engaged in street life claimed that Saskatoon police were "racist" (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994c:33). Responses from the youth and from Aboriginal community leaders show that they perceive the racism directed at Aboriginal peoples to be systemic and institutional, and thus they call for responses at that level. For example, the leaders called for greater involvement of the Aboriginal community in the design, development, and delivery of services to street-involved youth and in "...increasing sensitization to Aboriginal interests within the existing system [of youth justice]" (pp. 44-45).

The call for increased numbers of Aboriginal law enforcement officers within the Saskatoon Police Department to deal with Aboriginal street youth and for Aboriginal advisory groups for various components of the justice system confirm the Aboriginal view on the structural and

institutional nature of racism. All of the recommendations emerging from the Saskatoon Case Study focus on the need for more culturally sensitive youth services in order:

...to recognize the historical realities of ...[Aboriginal] young people and their families, the increased challenges now confronting urban Aboriginal people and those measures which are effective in identifying individual, family and community growth among Aboriginal people (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994c:38-45).

A second study that touches upon the issue of racism on the streets in Canada is Baron's (1997) analysis of male street skinheads in Edmonton who are perceived as "...extreme racists who violently victimize racial, ethnic and sexual minorities" (Baron, 125). Baron points out that there are contradictory interpretations and portrayals of skinhead groups, and that much of the available research on skinheads comes from journalists, special-interest groups, and law enforcement agencies whose works may reflect bias and "...lack the rigour required for social science research" (Baron, 1997:126). His research concludes that "violence between (a) skinhead(s) and a member of a racial minority was quite rare, although not unheard of," in part because other than First Nations street youth, "...there were few visible-minority youths available to victimize." He goes on to state that, in Edmonton, "... Natives tended to be headbangers, the dominant subcultural group in the area," and that, as a result, they are subject to only "minimal victimization" (Baron, 1998: 142). While Hunter (1990:295) points out that "minority youths [Black and Latino]... are at a greater risk of violent and frequent discriminatory behaviour than are White youths" in the United States, and there are numerous other studies of racism among American street-involved youth, no Canadian sources were unearthed for this review that focus on street-involved youth from non-Aboriginal but other racial groups, such as Asian or Hispanic youths. In fact, the extent to which members of ethnic minorities other than Aboriginal are involved in any aspect of street sub-culture in Canadian cities is not well documented. (Yet in a city like Vancouver, there is frequent media discussion of "Asian youth

gangs" or "Latin youth dealing drugs" and there have been social programs – some years ago – addressed to "Asian youth at risk of conflict with the law."²)

3.3.2 Homophobia

The negative effects of homophobia in the antecedent family backgrounds of gay, lesbian and bisexual street-involved youth have been noted earlier in this review. Our attempts to find Canadian studies of instances of homophobia as experienced by gay, lesbian, and bisexual youth on the street, were not fruitful. There appears to be no study of this topic.

Given that this topic has not been explored in Canadian research, brief mention will be made of a few American studies that could be useful in considering future research in Canada on this topic. Homophobia in the United States takes a variety of forms, from verbal harassment to violent assaults. For example, of those youth interviewed by Hunter (1990:297) who reported violent physical assaults, 46% claimed that the assaults were gay-related. Hunter (p. 299) suggests that homophobic emotional and verbal abuse is probably even more common and concludes that violent homophobic attacks seem to be linked to the frequent suicide attempts among lesbians and gay males in her study. Kruks states that anti-gay prejudice, discrimination, and homophobia are "rampant" in modern American society and contribute to a multiplicity of problems for homeless and runaway gay males and lesbians, including increased incidence of attempted suicide and a sense of isolation. He suggests that since it is often on the streets that gay and lesbian youth first experience peer acceptance and support, these very experiences make it more difficult for them to leave street life (Kruks 1991:515-517).

². One of the authors of this study conducted an evaluation of such a program, nearly a decade ago (Stephenson, CS/RESORS Consulting, for HRDC, the program funder).

Berrill's (1990:282) study of anti-gay violence and victimization among adults observes that antilesbian behavior may be difficult to distinguish from more general violence against women, particularly if there is no "...explicit verbal indication" by assailants. He cites a chilling observation made by one lesbian activist that:

Like other women, lesbians are so conditioned to expect violence in their lives because of their gender, so trained to accept the threat of violence, that when they are assaulted it may not even occur to them to question why it occurred.

The implications of these findings for very young, street-involved women call for further investigation.

3.3.3 Self-destructiveness as Victimization

In their efforts to categorize youth violence, Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly (1994b:103) identify "...a wide range of behaviours or actions (verbal, psychological or physical) which result in harm, intimidation or threats to others." They add that "self destructive behaviour should be considered...as violence that is turned inward." Ayerst (1999:573) lists a variety of forms of self-victimization, including "...scraping, cutting, head banging, burning, and reopening old wounds" as common outlets and coping strategies for street-involved youth with "...stressful, conflict-ridden family backgrounds."

3.3.4 Criminal Activities as Victimization

Another type of victimization characteristic of the experiences of street youth is involvement in criminal activities. This very serious form of street victimization affects young people both as its direct victims and its perpetrators. Baron and Hartnagel's (1999:185) findings, for example, reveal that involvement with criminal activities among peers increases the propensity for youth violence. Baron (1999:7) also points to research that indicates "...high-frequency drug users on

the street are heavily involved in property crime, violent crime, and drug trafficking." Baron (1999:19) concludes:

...homeless youths tend to come to the streets with backgrounds that promote drug and alcohol use. However, once on the street, their risk for drug and alcohol use is exacerbated by their street experiences, including cultural supports for substance use, drug-using peers, and involvement in a criminal lifestyle that finances heavy drug and alcohol use.

McCarthy and Hagan's (1992:614) analysis of crime causation among street-involved youth in Toronto relates occurrence of crime to hunger and the need for shelter and does provide gender analysis that links males to theft and females to the sex trade. They summarize the connection: "...there is consistent evidence that hunger causes theft of food, problems of hunger and shelter lead to serious theft, and problems of unemployment and shelter produce prostitution" (1996:597). McCarthy provides evidence from interviews collected from street-involved youth in Vancouver that criminal activities such as drug use, occasional drug sales, theft, burglary and violence are "...an integral part of living on the street" and that their prevalence increases with prolonged exposure to the street (McCarthy, 1995:32).

4.0 A Vulnerable Population

This survey of antecedent family background, and the interrelatedness of the effects of poverty, health and types of victimization among street-involved youth clearly shows how these factors intersect to make street-involved youth vulnerable to serious violence. The potential and actual violence emanating from life on the street is all encompassing. Street-involved youth frequently find themselves in extremely risky situations as they try to find ways to survive, eat, sustain their substance abuse, and sleep in a safe place. Their situation can be complicated and exacerbated by factors such as race, gender, and sexual orientation. They become, as Brannigan and Caputo (1993:96) remark, subjects of research interest and of control. This control is seen as crucial

because the general public comes to view their disheveled and unkempt appearance and their unpredictable behavior as dangerous, as potentially violent. At the same time, because they are young people outside the reach of caring adults, they are decidedly vulnerable to the violence of the streets where they live.

And above all, speaking as the authors of this review, it must be remembered that these are *youth*, which by definition means individuals who have not reached adult levels of cognitive development or mature levels of judgement. They may want to be "grown-ups," and they certainly face challenges that the majority of adults have never faced. However, street-involved youth are by virtue of their age particularly ill-equipped to overcome the stark nature of their present life – while carrying the burdens that most research shows they carry from the untenable home life from which they are fleeing.

4.1 Research Methodologies

This section will briefly describe the key research methodologies using some of the sources included in the annotated section of the bibliography. A number of the researchers made significant efforts to include the direct reporting by street youth of their experiences and views of what kinds of programming would be of use to them for leaving the street. The studies tended to focus on attempting to develop definitions of street youth and typologies of the youth themselves and the kinds of circumstances and activities that made up their day-to-day lives.

Of particular interest is Brannigan and Caputo's (1993) research design for the Runaways and Street Youth Project conducted in Ottawa and Saskatoon by Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly (1994b, 1994c). The research design was the product of attempts to conceptualize street involved youth in such away that the multidimensional nature of this "varied and highly mobile" (Brannigan and Caputo 1993:3) population could be reflected with clarity. Characteristics of the target population meant that a classification scheme could not be developed with mutually exclusive

conceptual categories. For example, young people of different ages might be involved in overlapping or "...very different types of behaviour" (p.3). Even making a decision about what "...age range to include in a viable definition of runaways and street youth" (p.5) was problematic, since the literature on street-involved youth has included youngsters from their preteens to individuals in their late 20s and even early 30s. The problem of age range is compounded by variable legal definitions of youth used by various community, provincial and federal jurisdictions.

Brannigan and Caputo (p.6) note two other problems in research design and methodology. First, returning to the challenges of the age range of youth, comparisons of the actions of two individuals as much as eight years apart in age presents substantial difficulties for analysis. They (p.6) ask, "how can questions of responsibility, choice or intent be decided for individuals in such very different stages of their lives and with such different amounts of power and resources at their disposal?"

The second problem relates to the "fluid and mobile nature of the street population [which] makes estimates of its size and composition virtually impossible" (p.6).

Without a single, accepted and appropriate definition of runaways and street youth, the authors (1993:53, Fig.1) attempted to construct a "schematic overview" that took into account the relationship among types of street youth, antecedents, consequences and institutional responses and services. The authors (p.54) point out that "...this schematic overview can do little more than highlight the complexity of the problem of ...runaways and street youth."

One of Brannigan and Caputo's (1993:103, Fig.2) schematic models is utilized in Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly's (1994c) analysis of "...[Saskatoon's] response to runaways and street youth." The study uses the two major, intersecting dimensions of this schematic model to characterize

four groups of youth according to, first, the amount of time that young people spend on the street, from only occasionally to most of their time, and second, degree of involvement in conventional activities or in dangerous and risky street activities. The primary methodology for this study involved interviews with staff in a variety of youth service agencies, with a wide range of young people either associated with the street or in high school, and with representatives of community groups. The interviews addressed the characteristics of the street-involved population, the operation of various aspects of the social system that involved interaction with street youth, and the operations of the youth service system as a whole (Caputo, Weiler, and Kelly 1994c:1).

Community and youth participation were essential components of the project, and community groups were consulted about problems facing runaways and street youth. Notable features of the methodology included, first, a youth conference where young people from various parts of the community came together to consider and discuss issues arising from the community consultation, and second, a "delphi conference" (p.10), involving representatives from agency and community groups and young people who met to discuss the results of the research project and to plan future strategies.

The research team associated with the Runaways and Street Youth Project used an ethnographic approach to interviewing, and this same qualitative approach is used by Sobo *et al.* (1997) in their study of AIDS misconceptions among runaway adolescents in the United States. A similar, qualitative "phenomenological approach" is used by Kurtz *et al.* (2000) and Lindsey *et al.* (2000) in two studies designed to investigate the external and internal resources that runaway and homeless youth utilized "...to make successful transitions to adulthood." Thus, semi-structured, face-to-face interviews and self-administered questionnaires are used to elicit information, personal experiences, attitudes and ideas from the respondents. The research team also used focus groups with peer educators and social service providers to obtain data.

Self-reporting instruments were also employed by McCarthy and Hagan (1992) to examine the extent to which "foreground causes" such as unemployment, hunger and food scarcity, and shelter have direct impact on criminal activities such as stealing food, serious theft, and prostitution. They employed bivariate statistical techniques to test the strength of relationships between pairs of variables.

It is worth noting that McCarthy and Hagan (1992), Moon *et al.* (2000), and Greene and Ringwalt (1998), among others, used food, food vouchers, restaurant coupons, and cash to pay respondents for interviews.

More formally structured interviews were used by Baron (1999) and Baron and Hagan (1998) in their studies of street youth in Edmonton. The interviews were administered to samples of male homeless street youth. Both studies employed a variety of criminological perspectives to examine the intersection of street subculture with substance use, in the first case, and criminal activity and violence, in the second. Both analyses employed multivariate techniques.

A very large project in the United States (Greene and Ringwalt 1998) drew upon three nationally representative surveys of female street youth to compare pregnancy rates. A "purposive sampling strategy" (p.372) was used. This entailed selection of sites in 10 American cities where high concentrations of street youth were expected. Staff of local street outreach programs and local police departments aided in the identification of locations and selection of the most appropriate times to contact street youth, but none of the surveys included data collection from the outreach staff or police.

There are no "best practices" that can be identified in the various methodologies reviewed for this study. There is a strong theme of respect for and involvement of the youth themselves, with which we as researchers can only agree. This approach is compatible with – and may to a great

degree rely upon – an ethnographic, or at least highly qualitative, research strategy. This allows for the youth's own experience to come to the fore, for them to define their fears and their strengths, the risks they undergo, the decisions they make, and their successes in overcoming obstacles. An ethnographic, highly consultative approach does not, however, preclude quantitative data and statistical analysis – if on a modest scale. That is, if a large enough number of youths can be interviewed, if enough detail of their background and current activities can be elicited, and if the research coverage is systematic and comprehensive in scope, then there are enough "cases" to allow for at least univariate and bivariate analysis. For example, length of time on the street can be compared with extent of use of drugs, or various means of getting money. ³

5.0 Programmatic Responses To Street-Involved Youth

One of the areas of interest flagged for this study was an examination of the range of programmatic responses to assist street-involved youth. It was recognized that the scope and timing of the study would allow for a relatively modest response to this interest. However, there are two points the authors would like to make, in the hope of advancing planning for future research on this complex topic of street-involved youth.

First, any review of this topic calls for a workable typology of programmatic responses. In our view, this has been done, and done well, by Brannigan and Caputo, in their 1993 study of runaways and street youth in Canada. They point out that a workable typology must be able to have categories that are mutually exclusive and exhaustive. They developed a typology that took into account first, the length of time on the street and, second, the nature of their participation in street culture. From this framework they developed what they call a "continuum of

25

³. We cannot refrain from mentioning a study done by one of the authors which was able to cross-tabulate such data as length of time on the street and use of drugs. It is too early for inclusion in this review, but the methodological approach was rewarding. (Stephenson, Study of Vancouver Street Youth and the Reconnect Program, 1989)

services...that encompasses a broad range of programs" (1993: 148, *passem*). The typology thus flows from:

- *Preventive programs* (information and education on risks of alcohol, various sexual practices, early school leaving, programs for the provision of condoms, needle exchanges, etc.), to
- *Crisis intervention programs* (stabilize youth in crisis, emergency healthcare, emergency safehouse shelter, etc.), to
- *Maintenance programs* to meet on-going needs of youth while on the street (money, shelter, clothing, transportation, emotional support, legal and health services, etc.), to
- *Transitional programs* to help youth leave the street (life skills training, special educational and employment programs), to
- *Incapacitation programs* aimed at protecting the youth who is most in danger to self or others, or is criminally involved and "incapacitated" through incarceration. (If these programs are "protective" they can also be seen as crisis intervention. If related to criminal behaviour, they may include rehabilitative services to assist the youth in not repeating the behaviour.)

In our own review of the literature, it seems clear that any of the programs reviewed would be fit within the appropriate segment of the Brannigan and Caputo service typology. Their typology is useful work that could be applied to future study. However, simply slotting current programs into the typology would tend to be more of an "academic" exercise than one that would be useful for research planning at departmental levels. (It might be useful at a community level however, to identify local gaps in programming that should be considered for ensuring that there is an appropriate range of services for youth.)

However, there is another issue in looking at programmatic responses that became apparent in our study. That is, there are a number of studies that describe a program, but few or none that report on the *evaluation* of it. Or rather, there may well be evaluations existing, but these are

rarely turned into articles for publication.⁴ Hence, it is not possible from a standard review of the traditional literature to learn which programmatic responses offer the most hope of success, which are "best practices" in programming. A simple description of programming, or the application of a typology to programs, while useful for clear conceptualization of certain issues and systematic perception of the programmatic responses themselves, cannot advance understanding of program effectiveness.

To do this, it would be necessary to identify and collect evaluations of programs, quite possibly categorized according to the Brannigan and Caputo typology. Then there could be a "meta-analysis" of programming effectiveness. This exercise would not be without its difficulties, of course. Issues such as evaluation research quality, comparability of methodology, consistency of data, consistency of data analysis, etc. – all would have to be taken into account. However, a systematic approach to the task, recognizing that its rigor may be somewhat limited, could be of considerable value for program planning at departmental, provincial, regional, or local levels. Hence, we do suggest such an enterprise as one of the research gaps to be considered.

6.0 Research Gaps: Issues and Information

This review has identified a number of issues and straightforward gaps in information that should be considered in future to enhance understanding of the street youth phenomenon and of how best to assist such youth in leaving the street and leading a safer life over which they can have more control.

such materials.

⁴. Of course, there is a whole evaluation research literature, which could be searched for reports on street-youth programming. These reports would be of great interest, but the numbers are likely to be small. The more likely source of evaluation research reports would be the departments that funded the program/research in the first place. This can be done, though it would naturally take some digging, given the sometimes ephemeral nature of archiving

The authors thus suggest the following topics be considered for future research. Priorities and appropriate methodologies would be the subject of another discussion paper. The research gaps to be filled are thus:

- 6.1 Antecedent family physical and sexual abuse: analysis by gender and Aboriginal ancestry.
- 6.2 Youths' decision-making patterns related to finding employment and budgeting or managing income, cross-referenced to age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- 6.3 A systematic study of housing: including an assessment of conditions in youth shelters, including hostels, and the development of models for appropriate youth-centred multistage housing.
- 6.4 Links between mental illness in street-involved youth and age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- 6.5 Attitudes and beliefs of street-involved youth with regard to HIV/AIDS prevention programming available; cross-referenced with age, gender, sexual orientation, and Aboriginal ancestry.
- 6.6 Youth needs for a range of information about survival basics such as housing, access to medical services, other programming; and what types of communication media are most likely to be effective.
- 6.7 Identification of culturally appropriate programming that could be used in health care and social service centres for Aboriginal street youth.
- 6.8 In-depth analysis of the reproductive health of female street-involved youth, addressing both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal perceptions about conception, pregnancy rates, birth control practices, strategies for coping with pregnancy, self-care during pregnancy, care of infants.

- 6.9 Study of the formation of two-parent or extended family units among heterosexual couples, same-sex couples, or fictive kin among Aboriginal, non-Aboriginal, heterosexual, lesbian, gay male and bisexual street youth developed as a coping mechanism.
- 6.10 Investigation of the role of racism in the experiences of street youth whether internalized attitudes, or the attitudes and behaviours of peers, service providers, the justice system, educational system or other key players in the life of street youth.
- 6.11 Study of street-involved youth of Asian, Hispanic or other ethnic origins, to determine their participation in this life, antecedents, possible programming strategies that would be culturally appropriate and more likely to be effective.
- 6.12 Study of impacts of internalized and externally located homophobia upon street-involved youth.
- 6.13 In-depth study of street-involved youth with disabilities incidence, types, impacts on life on the street, potential programming to assist these youth.
- 6.14 In-depth "meta-analysis" of programmatic responses already in existence for street youth in general and/or particular sub-groups (age groups, ethno-cultural, females, gay/lesbian/bi-sexual/transgendered), drawing on evaluation research findings for the programs.
- 6.15 In-depth "meta-analysis" of methodologies used that most incorporate youth, but which still utilize accepted standards of methodological rigour.

APPENDICES:

A. Annotated BibliographyB. Bibliography

APPENDIX A

Annotated Bibliography

Ayerst, Sandra L. (1999). "Depression and stress in street youth." Adolescence 34(135): 567-575.

Ayerst's study explores stress and depression levels among 27 Canadian street youth and 27 "nonrunaway peers" (p. 567) over the age of 12, using a questionnaire to investigate not only depression level, family history, and stress factors, but also coping strategies. Street youth are found to experience deeper levels of depression than youth who live at home and attend school. In administering a standard questionnaire to measure depression, researchers found that factors such as sleep disturbance could not be used as a symptom of depression because, since "...it is rare to find a street youth who is able to sleep safely..., the scale may be tapping lifestyle rather than depression level." Of particular interest is Ayerst's discussion of coping strategies such as use of drugs and alcohol and engaging in acts of self harm. She observes that although these strategies are negative in nature, they may not be maladaptive when street culture is taken into account. Thus, "street youth commonly take amphetamines...to stay awake throughout the night so that they are not 'jumped' (attacked or robbed) while sleeping [and] inhalants may be used to provide a feeling of warmth during cold weather." She also points out that self-harm, in the form of cutting, burning and other self-inflicted violence "...may also be seen as a negative but adaptive coping strategy for street youth...from tension-filled, hostile environments in which other outlets for anger or frustration are lacking."

Baron, Stephen W. (1999). "Street youths and substance use: the role of background, street lifestyle, and economic factors." Youth and Society 31(1):3-26.

This research examines the relationship between drug and alcohol use and a variety of street life experiences. It focuses on the role of homelessness, peers on the street, criminal behavior, poverty and unemployment in influencing drug and alcohol use. The data were collected in Edmonton through the use of a structured interview schedule administered to a sample of 200 male youths "...with an average age of almost 19 years" (p. 11). Youths who participated were given a \$10 food coupon. To determine the effects of street lifestyle on drug and alcohol use, respondents were asked about duration of homelessness, drug and alcohol use by peers, "...and their own involvement in property, violent, and drug crimes" (p. 12). Multivariate analysis of data suggests that while the backgrounds of homeless youths tend to promote drug and alcohol use, experiences on the street such as criminal activities, cultural supports, and the presence of drug-using peers are likely to exacerbate these risk-behaviors. Moreover, the author (p. 18) observes that unstable labor market histories and prolonged unemployment can either leave street-involved youth "...alienated from conventional society or frustrated with their failure, both of which serve to increase the risk of drug and alcohol use." In addition, participation in crime

increases the use of drugs and alcohol among street-involved youth "crime finances use; use encourages more use; more use encourages more crime."

Baron, Stephen W. and Timothy F. Hartnagel (1998). "Street youth and criminal violence." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 35(2):166-192.

Critical of studies that focus solely on antecedent background factors in determining street youth violence or that adopt "unicausal" explanations for violence among street youth, Baron and Hartnagel employ a variety of criminological perspectives to examine the intersection of street subculture, poverty, and victimization in promoting and shaping the involvement of street youth in criminal violence. Their study draws upon data collected over a six-month period in Edmonton and employs interviews and self-reports with 200 homeless male street youths whose average age was just under 19 years. They distinguish between "...prior family and recent street experiences of violent victimization as possible causal variables" (p. 168) in four different forms of criminal violence - robbery, aggravated assault, common assault, and group fights. Results reveal that "...aspects of the street subcultural lifestyle, economic deprivation, and victimization" (p. 184) coupled with family histories of serious abuse and victimization work together to explain street youth violence. The authors find that while low income is "...the only consistent significant predictor across the four types of violent crime" (p. 184), different combinations of street subculture, economic deprivation, and victimization are associated with the different types of violent behavior. For example, robbery is best predicted by poverty, length of time on the street, perception of a lack of legitimate opportunities, and victimization both at home and on the street. On the other hand, "predictive accuracy was weakest for group fights" (p. 184) which seem to be conditioned by other unexplored factors such as "...territoriality, protection, and group identity" (p. 185).

Bass, Deborah (1992). Helping Vulnerable Youths: Runaway and Homeless Adolescents in the United States. Washington, DC: NASW Press.

Bass examines the needs of runaway and homeless youth for shelter, independent living skills, and drug abuse and prevention education and evaluates U.S. federal government programs available to assist them with these needs, in order "...to develop practice-relevant information and to identify innovative practices" (p. xi). Of interest is her assessment of short-term shelter services which are "...extremely effective for youths who have been away from home for a short time and who seek help....but may not be as effective for youths who have long-term problems" (16). The author (p. 27) itemizes adequacy of referral sources, staff training, the availability of social services, and "after-care services" as essential factors in the effectiveness of programs designed to meet the needs of street youth. The book provides a series of recommendations for program activities to meet youth needs and presents a model for serving runaway and homeless youths based on "...a composite of best practices" (p. 47). These include identification of education, health and social service systems and establishment of service linkages, and

development and implementation of outreach activities, public awareness campaigns, and empowerment of youth and families. In addition, appendices provide samples of data collection instruments used in a National Association of Social Workers survey of street youth. These instruments include questions relating to the experiences of cultural minorities, immigrant, and gay and lesbian youth.

Booth, Robert E., Yiming Zhang and Carol F. Kwiatkowski (1999). "The challenge of changing drug and sex risk behaviors of runaway and homeless adolescents." Child Abuse and Neglect 23(12):1295-1306.

The objective of this research was to expand understanding of drug and sex risk behaviors of street-involved adolescents and to assess the effect of youths' knowledge about HIV and AIDS, their perceptions and concerns about the likelihood of infection, and the effectiveness of a peer intervention program in changing risk behaviors. Standardized, structured interviews were conducted with a sample of 244 street-involved youth to assess their risk behaviors and to determine the extent of their knowledge about HIV/AIDS. An intervention model was designed, with a cohort of HIV prevention educators trained to assist their peers on the street. This assistance involved four major topics: (1) facts about HIV/AIDS transmission and ways to reduce risks; (2) facts about sex risk behaviors and how to negotiate safer sex; (3) drug-related risks and role playing to practice refusal skills when drugs are offered; and (4) preparation of participants to assume the peer helper role. Three major findings emerged from the study: (1) there was no relationship between greater understanding of AIDS and practice of lower risk behaviors; (2) perceived likelihood of infection did not lower risk behavior; and (3) using peer educators in the intervention model was not effective in changing the risk behaviors.

Brannigan, Augustine and Tullio Caputo (1993). Studying Runaways and Street Youth in Canada: Conceptual and Research Design Issues. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada.

This report concentrates on five issues: (1) the size of the runaway and street youth population in various locations in Canada; (2) demographic characteristics of runaways and street youth; (3) background antecedents contributing to becoming street-involved; (4) the consequences of street involvement and patterns of leaving the streets; and (5) the nature of services – educational, health, criminal justice and social services – available to street youth and identification of gaps or overlaps in service delivery. Problems of conceptualizing street youth are addressed; the authors (pp. 3-5) remark that attempts to categorize and define street-involved youth are confounded by issues of how the youth came to be on the street, age range and problems of comparing the activities of youth under 12 with those over 20 years of age, behavioral characteristics on the street (drugs, alcohol, high-risk sexual behavior, sources of income), criminal involvement and whether the individual street youth is victim or victimizer (pp. 3-5). The discussion generates a

"schematic overview" (Fig. 1, p. 53) that illustrates, in diagrammatic form, the relationship among types of street youth, antecedents, consequences and institutional responses and services. The authors (p. 54) point out that "this schematic overview can do little more than highlight the complexity of the problem...of runaways and street youth..." Eleven Canadian studies are then surveyed, with reference to definitions, research design, and data collection strategies. Following their survey of case studies, the authors turn to a discussion of conceptualizing the problem of street-involved youth. They (p. 96) maintain that "... interest in the area of runaways and street youth is largely reactive," driven by the needs of institutions to collect information on characteristics of street-involved youth in order to provide necessary services to them and to establish some measure of control over them. They make a number of recommendations related to conceptual issues, including, first, that "...a systematic count be made of the size [and age range] of the population of youth on the street" (p. 100). To this end, they develop "...a methodological strategy" (p. 109) for estimating population size that takes into account the activities and behavior patterns of street youth that make them so difficult to count, such as their sleeping locations and nocturnal activities. A second recommendation is that the extent and type of participation in street culture should be viewed as an important variable in studying street youth, in order "...to encompass a broad range of activities and levels of participation" (p. 102). To meet this second recommendation, Brannigan and Caputo (pp. 102-107) devise a twodimensional model – length of time on the street and degree of involvement in street life – that will aid in differentiating among "...the diverse elements of the street youth population" (p. 102) and in encompassing a broad range of activities and levels of participation in street culture. The authors also report on the results of a pilot study conducted in Calgary in the winter of 1992. The study examined four major factors: family background antecedents, personal characteristics such as age, gender and educational level, psychological, health, and economic consequences of being on the street, and use of social services. Although data were collected on "hazards of running" (p. 129), these deal largely with psychological factors such as depression, suicidal tendencies, and lack of self-esteem, and with police detention, involvement with drugs, and problems with employment rather than with violence and victimization.

Caputo, Tullio, R. Weiler and Katherine Kelly (1994). Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project: The Ottawa Case Study. Final Report No. 1994-11. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada.

As a result of Brannigan and Caputo's (1993) recommendations stemming from their discussion of research design strategies and review of the literature on street youth, the authors conducted an in-depth analysis of Ottawa's response to runaways and street youth. In addition, the research team collaborated with an Ottawa community project on Youth and Violence, and a background document (pp. 102-112) for participants attending a conference on Violence and Youth is appended to their report. The report itself utilizes Brannigan and Caputo's (1993:103, Fig. 2) second schematic model to characterize the various components of the runaway and street population, so that the full range of behaviors typical of street youth can be identified and met

with appropriate community responses. The authors discuss the results of interviews with both front-line and supervisory staff in youth service agencies, interviews with youth living on the street or in marginal situations, as well as youth not involved with street life. Interviews explored characteristics of the street youth population, antecedent family situations, involvement of street youth in high-risk or illegal activities, and street youths' "...knowledge, use assessment of services available to them" (p. 3). Their assessment reveals, for example, that the vast majority of street youth were aware of available youth services and the agencies that provided them, that most regarded health care services highly, but that, in contrast, more than half of the street youth gave the police negative ratings.

Caputo, Tullio, R. Weiler and Katherine Kelly (1994). Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project: The Saskatoon Case Study. Final Report No. 1994-12. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada.

Paralleling the Ottawa study by the same authors (see above, p. 4) and part of Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project, this volume is an in-depth case study of Saskatoon's response to runaways and street youth. Noting that more than three-quarters of these youth are aboriginal (p. 30), the authors apply Brannigan and Caputo's (1993:103, Fig. 2) second schematic model to their analysis. Thus, the study uses the two major dimensions of the schematic model to characterize four groups of youth: "conventional youth'... [who live at home and] are only marginally involved in the street scene;... 'victimized youth'... [who are] not, as yet, very involved in street life... [but whose] precarious living situations make them extremely vulnerable to its dangers;... 'delinquent youth' ... [who] are not on the street to any extent, but ...do participate heavily in the illegal and dangerous activities characteristic of street culture; [and]... 'entrenched youth' who are both homeless and heavily involved in street life" (p. 13). The analysis provides overviews and evaluations of the role of social services, education, health care, criminal justice and community services for street youth. Such problematic areas as the lack of supportive access to these services, as well as inadequate training for staff, unrealistic expectations of schools and other educational services, middle class bias in the criminal justice system, and the presence of only a few culturally sensitive program responses for aboriginal street youth are investigated. The need for greater involvement of the aboriginal community and street youth in the design, implementation, and evaluation of runaway and street youth services is discussed. Moreover, the authors (p. 21) find that "intervention strategies and treatment orders do not take into account the reality faced by aboriginal street youth." While considerable attention is paid to the views of street-involved youth, especially those who are aboriginal, no mention is made of the involvement of gay or lesbian youth or of those with disabilities in street culture. In general, the presentation of youth views is not broken down by gender, ethnicity, or sexual orientation. The authors touch very briefly on such issues as the lack of culturally sensitive mental health services, and there is reference to the existence of birth control programs, but there is no discussion of pregnancy among runaways and street youth. Given these

omissions, the study is a relatively thorough assessment of the street-involved youth service system.

Chand, Manjit, Lisa B. Thompson and Coralys Cuthbert (1997). You Have Heard This Before: Street-Involved Youth and the Service Gaps. Vancouver: Interministerial Street Children's Committee, City of Vancouver Social Planning Department.

The purpose of this project is aimed at "...identifying some of the service gaps for street-involved youth in Vancouver" (p. 4). Gaps in service to street-involved youth include insufficient facilities for short- and long-term housing options and for long-term alcohol and drug treatment for youth, as well as a lack of round-the-clock access to services, and both poor coordination of services and inadequate integration of case management among service-providers. Special attention is given to the need for shelters with laundry and shower facilities that may influence youth success in finding employment and to a variety of gaps in accessible health care. Lastly, the report speaks about "promises to be kept concerning the reformation of laws and policies that could protect street youth" (p. 4). Recommendations are made to address these shortcomings, but there is little reference to the implications of the recommendations for issues of gender, ethnicity, disabilities or sexual orientation, nor is there any discussion of victimization.

Fitzgerald, Michael D. (1995). "Homeless youths and the child welfare system: implications for policy and service." Child Welfare 74(3):717-730.

According to the author (p. 717), child welfare services in Canada are inadequate for youths between the ages of 16 and 19, and community-based organizations do not have the necessary resources to provide assistance to this cohort. This article investigates current child welfare policy and practice in Canada as it applies to homeless youths. In addition, residential program for homeless youths is profiled, and implications and recommendations for child welfare are discussed. Fitzgerald comments that while it is generally recognized that the lives of street-involved youth reflect the on-going impact of "unsupporting, damaging backgrounds" (p. 718), there is little in the Canadian child welfare system to deal with the emotional, social, legal and economic consequences of these backgrounds. Obstacles to providing effective care and protection for homeless adolescents include insufficient training for youth care workers, the restriction of most child welfare legislation to youth 16 years of age and under, and poorly integrated medical, housing and financial sources. Fitzgerald then examines Phoenix House, a long-term residential program for homeless youths in Halifax. He describes the structure of this non-profit community service, noting that it "...provides its male and female residents (age 16 to 24 years) with a safe, stable living environment and a range of educational, skill-building, and leisure programs" (p. 725). The aim of the program is to promote increased responsibility and independence among individual residents using staff-guided social- and lifeskills training, emotional guidance, computer-based education, preparation for employment,

addiction treatment and intervention, and recreational and leisure activities. The author remarks that although Phoenix House attempts to respond positively to issues of concern to street-involved youth, lack of government and public funding and concomitant problems with providing quality, affordable services delivered by adequately compensated, skillful and dedicated staff hamper the operation of the program. Fitzgerald proposes a number of improvements including (1) development of a national policy on child welfare that leads to consistent legislation and service; (2) increased public education and training for child welfare professionals; (3) development of creative programs based on the needs of children and their families; (4) policies that extend equal protection to adolescents and that recognize their special needs; and (5) street-level and outreach services.

Greene, Jody M. and Christopher L. Ringwalt (1998). "Pregnancy among three national samples of runaway and homeless youth." Journal of Adolescent Health 23(6): 370-377.

The purpose of this article is to compare estimates of the incidence of pregnancy among three youth cohorts between the ages of 14 and 17 years who were living on the street, in funded shelters, or at home. Although earlier studies of street youth document pregnancy rates of between 25% and 60% in different American cities, Greene and Ringwalt's study is the first to examine three nationally representative surveys of the three youth cohorts for evidence of prevalence of lifetime pregnancy rates. The intent of the authors is to provide more reliable empirical information that can be used by program planners to assess the extent of need for family planning and pre-natal care services and to develop funding proposals for such services. Multistage sampling techniques were used in the shelter survey to ensure a nationally representative sample of 169 female youth residing in both federally funded and non-federally funded shelters and in both large and small shelters. A total of 85 female street youth were surveyed with a "purposive sampling strategy" (p. 372) that involved selection of sites within ten American cities where high concentrations of street youth were expected. Staff of local street outreach programs and police departments aided in the identification of locations and times for contacting large numbers of street youth. Virtually identical questionnaires were used in both shelter and street surveys, and respondents were given food or food coupons. A pre-existing survey that monitors health risk behaviors among youth was used to collect data on 1988 female youth living in households. All three surveys included comparable questions on lifetime pregnancy. Age and race/ethnicity (white, black, and other) were measured in each survey. Data from all three surveys were standardized and weighted to take into account variations in demographic characteristics, and Chi-square tests were used to assess statistical significance of the differences among standardized lifetime pregnancy rates for the three groups. Results indicate that "...youths living on the street had the highest lifetime rates of pregnancy (48%), followed by youth residing in shelters (33%)" (p. 370), while youth living in stable households, with and without recent homeless experiences, had lifetime pregnancy rates of under 10 per cent. Differences in rates between street and shelter youth were not statistically significant when

demographic variables were taken into account. The authors postulate that homeless youth, whether in shelters or on the street, are at very high risk for pregnancy because of a variety of factors: (1) they may have been sexually abused at home and become pregnant as a result; (2) they engage in high-risk sexual activities such as having multiple sexual partners; (3) as a result of poverty, they are compelled to engaging in "survival" sex, trading sex for their basic subsistence needs; (4) as a result of poverty, they cannot afford effective contraceptives such as the pill, IUDs, diaphragms or condoms; (5) they are vulnerable to sexual assault on the street or in shelters; and (6) they have "...limited access to medical and family planning services" (p. 370). Several problematic factors that may skew the findings are identified: pregnancies may be underreported if females did not know they were pregnant or they were reluctant to admit to pregnancy; pregnancies may be overreported if young females who were undernourished, using drugs, or suffering stress misinterpreted missed menstrual periods. The authors note in conclusion that there are many policy implications for their findings, including a need for pregnancy prevention and safe sex programs for street-involved youth, condom distribution, prenatal services close to centres where homeless youth congregate, infant care education projects, and independent living and job training programs for female street youth with infants.

Hoyt, Dan R., Kimberly Ryan, and Ana Mari Cauce (1999). "Personal victimization in a high-risk environment: homeless and runaway adolescents." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 36(4):371-392.

Acknowledging flaws in previous studies using a criminal opportunity theoretical perspective, Hoyt et al. attempt a more rigorous examination that concentrates on patterns of personal victimization within the specific context of homeless and street-involved youth. The authors (p. 372) also acknowledge that the "single dominant finding ... from the literature on criminal opportunity theories ... is that location matters." They proceed to extend these theories in several ways: (1) consideration of what types of exposure are most predictive of personal victimization; (2) refinement of visibility and accessibility criteria; (3) elaboration of measures of target attractiveness and guardianship and their relationship to victimization. Two issues are given special attention: "involvement in deviant activities ...[and] time-lagged prior victimization" (p. 373). Data were collected through a longitudinal study of Seattle adolescents between 13 and 21 years who were not living in stable situations. Hoyt et al. note that homeless and street-involved youth "...have fewer resources available to respond to victimization experiences" (p. 377), while "the very nature of the homeless experience fosters involvement in deviant subsistence strategies" (376). The authors hypothesize that a variety of factors linked to exposure, guardianship, and victim attractiveness will produce important variation in victimization. Four exposure factors – (1) actual amount of time living on the street without shelter; (2) level of substance abuse; (3) degree of involvement with gang activities; and (4) prior personal victimization – show a strong positive association with increased risk of victimization for both males and females. Of particular interest, "the risks for current victimization were approximately two-and-one-half times greater if the youth had been a prior victim of a personal assault" (p.

387). One factor, degree of involvement in deviant activities, was not significantly associated with risk of personal victimization. Moreover, no significant relationship was discovered between amount of time spent in stable residence and reduced risk of personal victimization for either males or females, but assignment to an intensive case management significantly reduces victimization risks for females. Two measures of personal attractiveness –internalized, depressive symptoms and a disheveled, unclean appearance are weakly associated with increased risk of personal victimization for both males and females. The authors (p. 388) conclude that not only is exposure strongly related to victimization, but also "victimization of street youths is not simply a matter of being homeless and in an unsafe environment; it is also dependent on what they are doing in this context." They maintain that their research and similar projects in other American cities provide an important test of the value of criminal opportunity models of victimization.

Kurtz, P. David, Elizabeth W. Lindsey, Sara Jarvis et al. (2000). "How runaway and homeless youth navigate troubled waters: the role of formal and informal helpers." Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal 17(5):381-402.

This goal of this study, a part of a larger research project (see also Lindsey et al., 2000, below), is to identify formal and informal external sources of help that enable runaway and homeless adolescents who have left home to escape conflicted or dangerous family situations develop skills and strategies for resolving difficulties, dealing with the dangers of street life, and achieving a modicum of "self-defined success in young adulthood" (p. 381). The authors remark that adolescents in general are often reluctant to seek assistance from formal agencies and that it is essential to program planning and to professional workers to understand what types of helping are perceived by street youth as useful, trustworthy and appropriate to them. The research team used qualitative methodologies, including focus groups with peer educators and social service providers, and semi-structured, face-to-face interviews with a total of 12 youth between the ages of 18 and 25 who were no longer living on the street. Respondents identified three types of helpers – family, friends and professionals – and five types of help they perceived as important in facilitating their acceptance of help – "...caring, trustworthiness, setting boundaries and holding youth accountable, concrete assistance, and counseling" (p. 387). Youth identified two essential conditions that had to be present for help to be sought and used: the young people had to perceive the helper as trustworthy and they had to be ready to accept help. The authors discuss significant findings of the study, noting that participants valued supportive, multiplex relationships with patient, nurturing helpers, whether family, friends, or professionals, far more than they did specific treatment programs and services. Thus, they state that programs for homeless youth need to be flexible and person-centred, allowing autonomy in decision-making and avoiding labelling or pathologizing youth.

Lindsey, Elizabeth W., P. David Kurtz, Sara Jarvis *et al.* (2000). "How runaway and homeless youth navigate troubled waters: personal strengths and resources." Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal 17(2):115-140.

Lindsey et al. point out that although there is considerable information about "...why runaway and homeless youth leave home, the hazards they face, and the lifestyles they lead" (p. 116), very little research has examined "...how some of these youth are able to resolve the challenges and problems they face to make successful transitions into adulthood" (p. 116). Here, they discuss a qualitative study, one segment of a larger research project (see also Kurtz et al. 2000, above), that investigates the "...personal strengths and resources" (p. 115) employed by youth to make these successful transitions. These strengths and resources are described as "...learning new behaviors, personal attributes, and spirituality." Data were collected using a "phenomenological approach to identify...(1) the nature of decisive turning points in the lives of these young people; (2) the personal and contextual factors that enabled them to successfully resolve difficulties and achieve some level of self-defined success in young adulthood; and (3) how they define success for themselves" (p. 117). Four members of the research team used ideas obtained from focus groups with 30 peer educators from youth shelters and interviews with 22 youth shelter service providers to develop a semi-structured interview format for data collection. Twelve participants between the ages of 18 and 25 were interviewed, using a conversational style to elicit demographic information, accounts of difficult times experienced and strategies used to deal with those times, turning points in their lives, current situation, definition of success, and future hopes and plans. Transcripts of initial interviews were analyzed using the "constant comparative approach" (p. 119) which uses preliminary finding to shape future interviews. A process of coding was developed that organized into larger conceptual categories the "...well over 30 factors that youth identified" (p. 119) as significant markers in their ability to moved from homelessness and alienation to a self-defined sense of success. The article provides profiles of the 12 participants before discussing findings related to three categories of personal strengths and resources. The first major category, "Learning New Attitudes and Behaviors" (p. 124), encompasses both what was learned and the nature of the learning process and identifies as most significant what youth learned about themselves and what they learned about being in relationships with others. Included in this first category are ideas gleaned from "Learning About Themselves" (p. 124) including building self-confidence, developing self-love, learning about self-care, and goal-setting and learning from experience (p. 131), both from their own mistakes and experiences and from those of others. In addition, learning how to be more considerate, responsible, and careful in relationships with others and taking responsibility for one's own actions were significant elements of this first category. The second major category, "Personal Attributes" (p. 133) was seen by the participants as including attributes such as determination, independence, responsibility and maturity that were considered as internal qualities rather than learned behaviors. The third category, spirituality, was identified by over half of the 12 youths and was expressed as "...faith in God or a higher power...[,] direct divine intervention in their lives...[or] active engagement with their higher power through prayer" (p. 134). According to

the authors, implications of this study include shifting from a traditional perspective of street youth as problematic and dysfunctional individuals to one of viewing them as resourceful individuals attempting to meet and cope with the challenges of life on the street. Lindsey *et al.* argue that programs such as "Scared Straight" which stress negative consequences of nontraditional behaviors may be little value to youth who need "...to see a real connection between potential consequences and their own lives" (p. 137). The authors stress the importance of early intervention programs that do not label adolescents in trouble as "'troublemakers' or even worse" (p. 138) and of ways that social workers can assist youth by focusing on what can be learned from a poor decision or ineffective problem-solving, by facilitating enhancement of self-defined positive attributes, and by designing programs that include youth learning bout themselves and their relationships with others. They caution, finally, that findings based on qualitative research with small samples must be carefully assessed before being applied to other and larger populations.

McCarthy, Bill (1995). On the Streets: Youth in Vancouver. Victoria: Ministry of Social Services, Province of British Columbia.

This report consists of a "...review [of] available data and an overview of the situation of 'street kids' in Vancouver" (1). McCarthy examines such parameters of their existence as family background, living situations, school experiences, employment history and involvement in crime. This last variable is the focus of the document. He (1) defines street-involved youth as "...people, age 14 to 24 years, who do not have regular access to permanent shelter...[and thus] are not easily included in conventional social surveys. Typically they migrate between living on the streets and finding temporary accommodation in hostels, group homes, hotels, with friends or relatives, or in their own apartments" (1). The author (p. 2) provides a statistical analysis accompanied by quotations from interviews "...to give the abstract notion of 'street life' ...immediacy", but these quotations do not yield insight into such factors as gender, ethnic background, disabilities, or sexual orientation. McCarthy (p. 47) notes that compared with youth who remain at home and in school, street youth appear to have far more problematic family backgrounds, school experiences, and encounters with law enforcement. He (p. 47) also comments that the frequently unsuccessful search for food, shelter and employment not only occupies much of the time of street youth but also leaves them vulnerable to violence and to being victims or perpetrators of crime. He (p. 47) concludes that "...policies that reduce the amount of time homeless youth spend on the street will greatly affect ...[their] involvement in street crime" and that access to safe shelters "...should decrease street youth's involvement in high risk activities."

McCarthy, Bill and John Hagan (1992). "Mean streets: the theoretical significance of situational delinquency among homeless youth." American Journal of Sociology 98(3):597-627.

The authors compare youth on the street and in schools and control for factors of family background in order to identify adverse situational conditions that contribute to delinquency. These conditions are (1) hunger, which causes theft of food, (2) hunger and inadequate shelter, which lead to "serious theft...[and (3)] problems of unemployment and shelter" (p. 597) which lead to prostitution. Acknowledging traditional sociological theories of crime causation based upon background life experiences, McCarthy and Hagan turn their attention to "foreground causes" (p. 623), that is to "...the adverse circumstances of homeless street youths" (p. 597). They examine the role of these circumstances in exacerbating both strain and weak social control and thereby pushing youths to delinquency. The study surveyed of Canadian street youth, 19 years of age and under, in Toronto, using a two-part research strategy: (1) a self-reporting instrument "...for which they received \$10 in restaurant coupons" (p. 603) and (2) a parallel instrument for a sample of adolescents living at home and attending school. Three dependent variables – stealing food, serious theft, and prostitution – were selected for analysis, the latter two "...because they are likely to reveal gender-specific patterns, with situational concerns and difficulties more likely to cause male involvement in theft and female participation in prostitution" (p. 605). These measures are used to explore situational difficulties on the street – (1) unemployment since leaving home, (2) frequency of hunger and food scarcity, and (3) shelter. Meshing these indicators with information on strain and control at home, the authors present statistical models to consider the extent to which background and situational measures of street difficulties "...have direct effects on the three dependent variables." The authors (p. 613) find that, "...compared with adolescents still at home, street youths are disproportionately drawn from families characterized by aversive strain and an absence of control" and that "...the strongest and most consistent relationships involve two measures of situational problems and two street control variables: hunger and shelter, and length of time on the street and arrests of street friends. In contrast, our third situational measure, unemployment, is significantly associated with only one indicator of street crime, prostitution" (p. 614). They (p. 614) also note "...evidence of gender specialization in street crime;....as expected, males are more likely to steal, while females are more likely to work in the sex trade." McCarthy and Hagan (p. 625) conclude that "...many of the most serious problems of the street derive from the conditions of street life itself, including the problems of sustenance and security that street life produces," and that there are policy implications for bringing about changes to street situations.

Moon, Martha W., William McFarland, Timothy Kellogg *et al.* (2000). "HIV risk behavior of runaway youth in San Francisco: age of onset and relation to sexual orientation." Youth and Society 32(2):184-201.

Among the large numbers of young people who are homeless and living on the streets or in shelters in the United States, up to 35% engage in drug use behavior that places them at high risk for HIV infection. High risk sexual behavior characterizes upwards of 27%, many of whom participate in "... 'survival sex,' selling sex to meet subsistence needs" (p. 185). In San Francisco, where this study was undertaken, gay, lesbian and bisexual youth are at particularly high risk for HIV infection, but the authors note that very few studies distinguish sexual orientation among street-involved youth. Moon et al. make this distinction in order to better understand differences in sexual and drug use behavior. Information collected from heterosexual and from gay/lesbian/bisexual youth is compared. Participants were recruited when seeking medical services at two health clinics and were included if they were between the ages of 12 and 21 and were willing and able to consent to both an interview and a blood test for HIV. Upon completion of the blood test and interview, they received food or thrift store vouchers or \$20 cash. Comparison of sexual and drug use behavior by sexual orientation reveals "...higher levels of HIV risk among homeless gay/lesbian/bisexual youth than heterosexual youth" (p. 195); the former were sexually active at an earlier age and reported earlier onset of use of heroin, alcohol, amphetamines and cocaine. "Differences in risk by sexual orientation were particularly pronounced among females" (p. 193). The authors recommend that HIV educational materials must be directed at a younger population – "...by or before the age of 10 to achieve the greatest chance of influencing risk behavior before they become well established" (p. 198). Moreover, Moon et al. maintain that peer-designed and peer-led programs must be instituted to promote tolerance and to prevent both homophobia and self-destructive behaviours among gay/lesbian/bisexual youth.

Smart, Reginald G. and Alan C. Ogborne (1994). "Street youth in substance abuse treatment: characteristics and treatment compliance." Adolescence 29(115):733-745.

Commenting that the current population of street-involved youth includes many both substance abuse and serious psychiatric problems, this study focuses on street youth undergoing treatment for alcohol and drug abuse. Using data collected on 867 youth treated at centers in Ontario, the authors compare 261 homeless youth and 586 "conventional" youth for "...social and demographic characteristics, alcohol and drug abuse histories, and treatment outcomes" (p. 734). A questionnaire designed especially for the study and featuring questions on psychosocial issues is used to compile data and to provide a way of assessing the effectiveness of participating treatment programs. Overall, comparisons indicate that street-involved youth have more problems and more serious problems than do non-street youth. These problems were social, economic and substance related. Homeless youth were more likely to be unemployed, on

welfare, and to have legal and l problems, and their family backgrounds tended to be abusive. Street youth also tended to have psychological problems such as depression, low self-esteem, and hyperactivity, and they were more likely to define themselves as addicted to alcohol and drugs. A central finding of the study is that street-involved youth are more likely to leave treatment programs prematurely. The authors suggest that there is a need for more experimentation in the delivery of youth services, including "…planned, brief interventions, the use of outreach workers to maintain contact with drop-outs, …and the establishment of long-term supportive residences for youth in treatment" (p. 745).

Smart, Reginald G. and Gordon W. Walsh (1993). "Predictors of depression in street youth." Adolescence 28(109):41-53.

This article documents the extent of depression and other psychiatric problems among a sample of 145 street-involved youth, 24 years old or younger, in Toronto. The study examines the relationship between depression and a range of factors, including alcohol and drug use, social support networks, self-esteem, and family background. Drawing on youth from both service agencies and the street, the authors (p. 43) selected young people for the study on the basis of criteria associated with leaving school, street involvement, use of social services, and homelessness. Respondents were paid \$20 for answering a questionnaire and undergoing an interview. Depression, self esteem, social support, alcohol and drug problems, and family instability were measured using a series of scales and their association was assessed through regression analysis. The authors (p. 51) conclude that the most reliable indicators of depression among street-involved youth are self-esteem and amount of time spent in hostels. They (p. 51-52) observe that not only is low self-esteem self-reinforcing, but also "depressed street youth are probably less able to cope with the problem of accommodations and more often require hostels... which are sometimes dirty, noisy, dangerous, and overcrowded", thus leading to further depression.

Sobo, Elisa J., Gregory D. Zimet, Teena Zimmerman *et al.* (1997). "Doubting the experts: AIDS misconceptions among runaway adolescents." Human Organization 56(3): 311-320.

This paper reports on attitudes and ideas held by street-involved youth about HIV/AIDS information and advice in order "...to improve the effectiveness of AIDS/HIV education programs that target adolescents" (p. 311). The authors point out that homeless youths in urban areas may be at increased risk for AIDS as a result of their participation in high-risk sexual and drug use behaviors. They note that poverty and the need for food, shelter and money take priority over gaining access to condoms. Youth from two shelters in Cleveland, Ohio were surveyed using "...a semi-structured face-to-face interview" (p. 314) format and a self-administered questionnaire to collect sexual decision-making data and information regarding attitudes towards AIDS experts and their advice. The survey analyzes data on the basis of both gender and

ethnicity, but not sexual orientation. Results indicate numerous misconceptions and cynicism about AIDS information given to youth, with black youth and females tending to express more cynicism and to be more suspicious about information being withheld from them. Sobo *et al.* (p. 318) call for "a far more ethnographically-oriented approach, complete with extensive participant observation and full-time contact with youths under study" to increase the reliability of the data and to decrease the need for self-reports which may be influenced by "social acceptability" (p. 318).

Weber, Marlene (1991). Street Kids: The Tragedy of Canada's Runaways. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Consisting of a wide range of interviews with street youth collected unsystematically in several Canadian cities, Weber's work is of interest because the narratives yield a compendium of street experiences chronicled by both male and female youth from a variety of ethnic groups. She (p. 14) maintains that "the street...is rife with racism, homophobia, and sexism" and provides examples that have been offered by the street youth she interviewed on their "timetables and turf" (p. 5). Her study touches upon the dangers of shelters, sources of food, vulnerability to victimization and violence, and the "oppressive problems" (p. 225) of drugs and alcohol. Although the book does not attempt a scientific analysis of life on the street for young people, careful reading of the interview material affords evidence of an array of problems, from cold weather to pregnancy, encountered by street youth. Many of these stresses are not described elsewhere in the literature surveyed.

Witt, Peter A. and John I. Compton, eds. (1996). Recreation Programs That Work for At-Risk Youth: The Challenge of Shaping the Future. State College, Penn.: Venture Publishing.

This edited volume contains 38 community case studies of model youth-at-risk programs developed by recreation and parks departments across North America in an effort to ameliorate societal problems involving youth at-risk. Programs designed specifically for street-involved youth include Youth 2000, a multicultural project in Montreal that brings together street-involved youth and adult "animators" (p. 137) to act as role models and to facilitate youth participation and responsible commitment. In addition, the Northern Fly-In Sports Camps for aboriginal youth in Manitoba, is described as an attempt to bridge the gap between aboriginal and non-aboriginal cultures and to address "...the need for programs and training emphasizing the value of physical activity." As well, a Late Night Recreation Program in Seattle, Washington directed at such cultural groups as Asians and Pacific Islanders, and an outreach partnership for homeless youth in Olympia, Washington that involves community youth services, parks and recreation, and city police are relevant to this discussion. All programs include full-participation by street-involved youth in design, development, and implementation and have been subject to evaluation methods. Although several of these programs had components directed at ethnically diverse youth and

egnant teens on the street, there is no mention of other components for girls gay or lesbian youth nor at young people with disabilities.	s nor of any directed

APPENDIX B

Bibliography: Street Involved Youth

- Adams, Gerald R., Thomas Gullotta, and Mary Anne Clancy (1999). Homeless adolescents: a descriptive study of similarities and differences between runaways and throwaways. *In* Richard M. Lerner and Christine M. Ohannessian, eds., Risks and Problem Behaviours in Adolescence. New York: Garland.
- Anderson, J., T. Freese and Julia Pennebridge (1994). "Sexual risk behavior and condom use among street youth in Hollywood." Family Planning Perspectives 26:22-25.
- Antoniades, Margarita and Valerie Tarasuk (1998). "A survey of food problems experienced by Toronto street youth." Canadian Journal of Public Health 89(6):371-375.
- Athey, J. (1991). HIV infection and homeless adolescents. Child Welfare 70(5):517-528.
- Ayerst, Sandra L. (1999). "Depression and stress in street youth." Adolescence 34(135): 567-575.
- Baron, Stephen W. (1999). "Street youths and substance use: the role of background, street lifestyle, and economic factors." Youth and Society 31(1):3-26.
- _____(1997). "Canadian male street skinheads: street gang or street terrorists?" Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology 34(2):125-154.
- _____ (1995). Serious offenders. *In* James Creechan and Robert A. Silverman, eds., Canadian Delinquency. Toronto: Prentice-Hall.
- Baron, Stephen W. and Timothy F. Hartnagel (1998). "Street youth and criminal violence." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 35(2):166-192.
- _____ (1997). "Attributions, affect and crime: street youths' reactions to unemployment." Criminology 35:409-434.
- Bass, Deborah (1992). Helping vulnerable youths: runaway and homeless adolescents in the United States. Washington, DC: NASW Press.
- Bassuk, E.L. and L. Rosenberg (1990). "Psychosocial characteristics of homeless children and children with homes." Pediatrics 85:257-286.

- Bernard, Thomas J. (1990). "Angry aggression among the 'truly disadvantaged." Criminology 28:73-95.
- Berrill, K.T. (1990). "Anti-gay violence and victimization in the United States: an overview." Journal of Interpersonal Violence 5(3)4-24.
- Blau, Joel (1992). The Visible Poor: Homelessness in the United States. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Booth, Robert E., Yiming Zhang and Carol F. Kwiatkowski (1999). "The challenge of changing drug and sex risk behaviors of runaway and homeless adolescents." Child Abuse and Neglect 23(12):1295-1306.
- Booth, Robert E. and Yiming Zhang (1996). "Severe aggression and related conduct problems among runaway and homeless adolescents." Psychiatric Services 47:75-80.
- Bourgois, Philippe (1995). In Search of Respect: Selling Crack in El Barrio. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Bradford, Marnetta Shetler (1995). "Health concerns and prevalence of abuse and sexual activity in adolescents at a runaway shelter." Applied Nursing Research 8(4):187-190.
- Brannigan, Augustine and Tullio Caputo (1993). Studying Runaways and Street Youth in Canada: Conceptual and Research Design Issues. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada.
- Busen, Nacy H. and Bettina Beech (1997). "A collaborative model for community-based health care screening of homeless adolescents." Journal of Professional Nursing 13(5):316-324.
- Canadian Nurse (2000). "Study of Toronto street youth looks at treatment and prevention of HIV." Canadian Nurse, Vol. 96(2):14
- Caputo, Tullio and Katherine Kelly (1997). Police Perceptions of Current Responses to Youth Crime. Report No. 1997-03. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada, Ministry Secretariat. Policing and Law Enforcement Directorate.
- Caputo, Tullio, R. Weiler, and Katherine Kelly (1994a). Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project: General Introduction and Overview. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada, Ministry Secretariat, Police Policy and Research Division.

- _____ (1994b). Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project: The Ottawa Case Study. Final Report No. 1994-11. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada, Ministry Secretariat, Police Policy and Research Division.
- (1994c). Phase II of the Runaways and Street Youth Project: The Saskatoon Case Study. Final Report No. 1994-12. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada, Ministry Secretariat, Police Policy and Research Division.
- Caputo, Tullio and Colleen Ryan (1991). The Police Response to Youth at Risk. Report No. 1991-08. Ottawa: Solicitor General Canada, Ministry Secretariat, Police Policy and Research Division.
- Caton, C.L.M. (1990). The epidemiology of homelessness. *In* C.L.M. Caton, ed., Homeless in America. Pp. 19-35. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Cauce, Ana Marie, M. Paradise, *et al.* (1998). Homeless youth in Seattle: youth characteristics, mental health needs, and intensive case management. *In* M. Epstein, K. Kutash, and Duchnowski, editors/ Outcomes for Children and Youth with Emotional and Behavioral Disorders and Their Families. Austin: Pro-Ed.
- Cauce, Ana Marie, C.J. Morgan, *et al.* (1994). Effectiveness of intensive case management for homeless adolescents: results of a three-month follow-up. Journal of Emotional Behavior Disorders 2:219-227.
- Cauce, Ana Marie, C.J. Morgan, S. D. Shantinath, *et al.* (1993). Intensive case management for homeless youth: a description of a study in progress. Community Psychology 26:32-34.
- Chand, Manjit K. and Lisa B. Thompson (1997). You Have Heard This Before: Street-involved Youth and the Service Gaps. Vancouver: Interministerial Street Children's Committee, City of Vancouver Social Planning Department.
- City of Toronto and P.R.W. Kendall (1994). Profile of Youth Health in Toronto. Toronto: City of Toronto Department of Public Health.
- Clatts, Michael, D.J. Hillman, *et al.* (2000). Lives in the balance: an ethnographic profile of homeless youth in New York City. *In* J. Bluestein and C. Levine, eds., Medical Decision-Making for Adolescents Who Are Alone. New York: Pergammon Press.

- Clatts, Michael and W. Rees Davis (1999). "A demographic and behavior profile of homeless youth in New York City: implications for AIDS outreach and prevention." Medical Anthropology Quarterly 13(3):365-374.
- Clatts, Michael, W. Rees Davis, *et al.* (1998). "Correlates and distribution of HIV risk behaviors among homeless youths in New York City: implications for prevention and policy." Child Welfare 77(2):195-207.
- Clatts, Michael, J. Sotheran, *et al.* (1997). Needs Assessment: Services and Housing for New York City's Homeless Street Youth with HIV/AIDS. Final Report submitted to the Mayor's Office for AIDS Policy Coordination. New York: Mayor's Office.
- Clatts, Michael, W. Rees Davis, and A. Atillasoy (1995). "Hitting a moving target: the use of ethnographic methods in the evaluation of AIDS outreach programs for homeless youth in NYC." Qualitative Methods in Drug Abuse and HIV Research. NIDA Research Monograph 157:117-135.
- Clements, K., A. Gleghorn, *et al.* (1997). A risk profile of street youth in northern California: implications for gender-specific human immunodeficiency virus prevention." Journal of Adolescent Health 20:343-353.
- Community Social Planning Council of Toronto (1998). Surviving the Street: Street Youth and Squeegeeing in Toronto. Toronto: The Council.
- Crowe, C. and K. Hardill (1993). Nursing research and political change: the street health report. Canadian Nurse 89:21-24.
- D'Angelo, L.J., P.R. Getson, *et al.* (1991). "Human immunodeficiency virus infection in urban adolescents: can we predict who is at risk?" Pediatrics 88:982-986.
- Dadds, Mark R., David Braddock, *et al.* (1993). "Personal and family distress in homeless adolescents." Community Mental Health Journal 29(5):413-422.
- Deisher, R. and W. Rogers (1991). "The medical care of street youth." Journal of Adolescent Health Care 12:500-503.
- DeMont, John (1996). "Hangout to call their own." Maclean's 109(27):42-3.

- Deziel, Shanda and Brenda Branswell (1999). "The anguish of the street." Maclean's 112(34): 38-41.
- Dietz, P. (1991). Access to Health Care for Runaway and Homeless Youth: Summary Report. Washington, DC: National Association of Community Health Centers and National Network of Runaway Youth Services.
- Embry, Lara E., Ann Vander Stoep, *et al.* (2000). "Risk factors for homelessness in adolescents released from psychiatric residential treatment." Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 39(10):1293-1299.
- English, Nora D. and Leona M. English (1999). "A pro-active approach to youth who run." Brief communication. Child Abuse and Neglect 23(7):693-698.
- Ensign, Jo (2001). "The health of shelter-based foster youth." Public Health Nursing 18(1):19-23.
- Ensign, Jo and Joel Gittelsohn (1998). "Health and access to care: perspectives of homeless youth in Baltimore City, U.S.A." Social Science and Medicine 47(12):2087-2099.
- Ensign, Jo and J. Santelli (1998). "Health status and access to care: comparison of adolescents at a school-based health clinic with homeless adolescents." Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 151:817-823.
- _____(1997). Shelter-based homeless youth: health and access to care. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 151(8):817-823.
- Erickson, Patricia G. (1997). "Reducing the harm of adolescent substance use." Journal of the Canadian Medical Association 156(10):1397-1399.
- Finkelhor, D., G. Hotaling, and A. Sedlak (1990). Missing, abducted, runaway and throwaway children in America. First Report: Numbers and Characteristics: National Incidence Studies. Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. Office of Justice Programs. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Fitzgerald, Michael D. (1995). "Homeless youths and the child welfare system: implications for policy and service." Child Welfare 74(3):717-730.
- Forst, M.L. (1994). "Sexual risk profiles of delinquent and homeless youths." Journal of Community Health 19:101-114.

- Fox, S.J., R.J. Barrnett, and H.R. Bird (1990). "Psychopathology and developmental delay in homeless children: a pilot study." Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 29:732-735.
- Franz, Natalie and Colleen Poon (1997). AIDS-Related Risk Behaviour in B.C. Youth: A Multicultural perspective. Burnaby: McCreary Centre Society.
- Gaetz, S. and J. Lee (1994). Street Youth and Oral Health. Toronto: Shout Clinic and the City of Toronto Department of Public Health.
- Gelberg, L., L.S. Linn, and S. A. Mayer-Oakes (1990). Differences in health status between older and younger homeless adults. Journal of the American Geriatric Society 38:1220-1229.
- Goldman, Brian (1988). "Health of Toronto's street kids disturbing, study reveals." Canadian Medical Association Journal 138:1041-1043.
- Goodman, E. and J. Berecochea (1994). "Predictors of HIV testing among runaway and homeless adolescents." Journal of Adolescent Health Care 15(7):566-572.
- Greenblatt, M. and M.J. Robertson (1993). "Life-styles, adaptive strategies, and sexual behaviors of homeless adolescents." Hospital and Community Psychiatry 44(12):1177-1180.
- Greene, Jody M., Susan T. Ennett and Christopher L. Ringwalt (1999). "Prevalence and correlates of survival sex among runaway and homeless youth." American Journal of Public Health 89(9):1406-1409.
- Greene, Jody M. and Christopher L. Ringwalt (1998). "Pregnancy among three national samples of runaway and homeless youth." Journal of Adolescent Health 23(6):370-377.
- _____ (1997). "Substance use among runaway and homeless youth in three national samples." American Journal of Public Health 87(2):229-235.
- Greene, Jody M., *et al.* (1995). Youth with Runaway, Throwaway, and Homeless Experience: Prevalence, Drug use, and Other At-Risk Behaviors. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families.
- Gruneberg, Jeffrey and Paula F. Eagle (1990). "Shelterization: how the homeless adapt to shelter living." Hospital and Community Psychiatry 41(5):521-525.

- Hagan, John and Bill McCarthy (1997). Mean Streets: Youth Crime and Homelessness. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- _____ (1995). "Getting into street crime: the structure and process of criminal embeddedness." Social Science Research 24:63-95.
- _____(1994). Double jeopardy: the abuse and punishment of homeless youth. *In* G.S. Bridges and M. Myers, editors. Inequality, Crime, and Social Control. Pp. 195-211. Boulder: Westview.
- Haley, Nancy, Elise Roy, *et al.* (1998). "Hepatitis B vaccination outreach project for street youth in Montreal." Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality, Vol. 7(4):331-338.
- Haynie, Denise L., Tonja Nansel, *et al.* (2001). "Bullies, victims, and bully/ victims." Journal of Early Adolescence 21(1):29-49.
- Health Canada, Office of Alcohol, Drugs and Dependency Issues (1997). Meeting the Needs of Youth-at-Risk in Canada: Learnings from a National Community Development Project. Ottawa: Office of Alcohol, Drugs and Dependency Issues.
- Hendry, Chris (2000). "Rural teens produce harm reduction magazine." Journal of Addiction and Mental Health 2(2):1-3.
- Herschberger, Scott L. and Anthony R. D'Augelli (1995). "The impact of victimization on the mental health and suicidality of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths." Developmental Psychology 31(1):65-74.
- Hier, Sally J., Paula J. Korboot, and Robert D. Schweitzer (1990). "Social adjustment and symptomatology in two types of homeless adolescents: runaways and throwaways." Adolescence 25(100):761-771).
- Hoyt, Dan R., Kimberly Ryan, and Ana Mari Cauce (1999). "Personal victimization in a high-risk environment: homeless and runaway adolescents." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 36(4):371-392.
- Hunter, Joyce (1990)." Violence against lesbian and gay male youths." Journal of Interpersonal Violence 5:295-300.
- Hwang, Stephen W. (2001). "Homelessness and health." Canadian Medical Association Journal 164(2):229-233.

- Inciardi, James A., Ruth Horowitz, and Anne E. Pottieger (1993). Street Kids, Street Drugs, Street Crime. Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Janus, M.D., F.X. Archambault, *et al.* (1995). "Physical abuse in Canadian run-away adolescents." Child Abuse and Neglect 19(4):433-447.
- Johnson, T.P., J.R. Aschkenasy, *et al.* (1996). Self-reported risk factors for AIDS among homeless youth." AIDS Education Preview 8:308-322.
- Karabanow, Jeffrey (1999). "When caring is not enough: emotional labor and youth shelter workers." Social Service Review 73(3):340-357.
- Katz, M.B. (1990). The Undeserving Poor: From the War on Poverty to the War on Welfare. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Kaufman, Jeanne G. and Cathy Spatz Widom (1999). "Childhood victimization, running away, and delinquency." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 36(4):347-370.
- Kelly, Peter (2000). The dangerousness of youth-at-risk: the possibilities of surveillance and intervention in uncertain times. Journal of Adolescence 23(4):463-476.
- Kennedy, Leslie W. and Stephen W. Baron (1993). "Routine activities and a sub-culture of violence.: a study of violence on the street." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 30:88-113.
- Kennedy, Leslie W. and David R. Forde (1990). "Risky lifestyles and dangerous results: routine activities and exposure to crime." Sociology and Social Research 74:208-211.
- _____(1990). "Routine activities and crime: an analysis of victimization in Canada." Criminology 28:137-152.
- Kennedy, M.R. (1991). "Homeless and runaway youth mental health issues: no access to the system." Journal of Adolescent health 12:576-579.
- Kipke, Michele D., Raymond Palmer, *et al.* (1997). "Homeless youths' descriptions of their parents child-rearing practices." Youth and Society 28(4):415-431.
- Kipke, Michele D., Jennifer B. Unger, *et al.* (1997). "Street youth, their peer group affiliation and differences according to residential status, subsistence patterns, and use of services." Adolescence 32(127):655-669.

- Kipke, Michele D., S. Montgomery, *et al.* (1997). "Homes less youth: drug use patterns and HIV risk profiles according to peer affiliation." AIDS and Behaviour 1(4):247-259.
- Kipke, Michele D., Susan O'Connor *et al.* (1995). "Street Youth in Los Angeles: profile of a group at high risk for human immunodeficiency virus infection." Archives of Pediatric Adolescent Medicine 149:513-519.
- Kipke, Michele D., S. Montgomery, and R.G. MacKenzie (1993). "Risk factors and prevalence of substance use in homeless and non-homeless youth." Journal of Adolescent Health 14: 289-294.
- Kral, A.H., B.E. Molnar, *et al.* (1997). "Prevalence of sexual risk behavior and substance use among runaway and homeless adolescents in San Francisco, Denver, and New York City." International Journal of STD and AIDS 8:109-117.
- Kruks, Gabe (1991). "Gay and lesbian homeless/street youth: special issues and concerns." Journal of Adolescent Health 12(7):515-518.
- Kryder-Coe, J.H., L.M. Salamon, and J.M. Molnar, eds. (1991). Homeless Children and Youth: A New American Dilemma. New Brunswick, N.J.: Transaction Publishers.
- Kurtz, P. David, Elizabeth W. Lindsey, *et al.* (2000). "How runaway and homeless youth navigate troubled waters: the role of formal and informal helpers." Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal 17(5): 381-402.
- Kurtz, P. David, and Sara V. Jarvis (1991). "Problems of homeless youths: empirical findings and human services issues." Social Work 36(4):309-314.
- Kurtz, P. David, Gail L. Kurtz, *et al.* (1991). "Problems of maltreated runaway youth. Adolescence 26:543-555.
- Lasley, James R. (1992). "Age, social context, and street gang membership: are 'youth' gangs becoming 'adult' gangs?" Youth and Society 23(4):434-451.
- Lauritsen, Janet L., Robert J. Sampson, and John Laub (1991). "The link between offending and victimization among adolescents." Criminology 29:265-291.
- Lazarus, Ellen (1990). "Falling through the cracks: contradictions and barriers to care in a prenatal clinic." Medical Anthropology 12:269-287.

- Leadbetter, Bonnie J., Sidney J. Blatt, and Donald M. Quinlan (1995). "Gender-linked vulnerabilities to depressive symptoms, stress, and problem behaviors in adolescents." Journal of Research on Adolescence 5(1):1-29.
- Lee, J., S. Gaetz, and F. Goettler (1994). "The oral health of Toronto's street youth." Journal of the Canadian Dental Association 60:545-548.
- Liddiard, Mark and Susan Hutson (1990). "Homeless young people and runaways—agency definitions and processes." Journal of Social Policy 20(3):365-388.
- Lindsey, Elizabeth W., David Kurtz, *et al.* (2000). "How runaway and homeless youth navigate troubled waters: personal strengths and resources." Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal 17(2):115-140.
- Lowry, C. (1991). Karate Kids: Reaching the Unreached Street Kids." Toronto: International Press.
- MacDonald, N.E., W. A. Fisher, *et al.* (1994). "Canadian street youth: correlates of sexual risk-taking activity." Pediatrics Infectious Disease Journal 13(8):690-697.
- McCarthy, Bill (1995). On the Streets: Youth in Vancouver. Victoria: Ministry of Social Services, Province of British Columbia.
- McCarthy, Bill and John Hagan (1992). "Mean streets: the theoretical significance of situational delinquency among homeless youths." American Journal of Sociology 98:597-627.
- _____ (1992). "Surviving on the street: the experiences of homeless youth." Journal of Adolescent Research 7:412-430.
- _____(1991). "Homelessness: a criminogenic situation?" British Journal of Sociology 31: 393-410.
- McCarthy, Bill, John Hagan, and Lawrence E. Cohen (1998). "Uncertainty, cooperation, and crime: understanding the decision to co-offend." Social Forces 77(1):155-176.
- McCaskill, Pamela A., Paul A. Toro, and Susan M. Wolfe (1998). "Homeless and matched housed adolescents: a comparative study of psychopathology." Journal of Clinical Child Psychology 27(3):306-319.

- McCreary Centre Society (2001). No Place to Call Home: A Profile of Street Youth in British Columbia. Press Release, March 26, 2001. "Street youth not just an urban issue in BC." www.mcs.bc.ca/march26.htm
- (1994). Adolescent Health Survey: Street Youth in Vancouver. Prepared by Larry Peters, Aileen Murphy, and Roger Tonkin. Burnaby: McCreary Centre Society.
- McCullagh, John and Mary Greco (1990). Servicing Street Youth: A Feasibility Study. Toronto: Children's Aid Society.
- Molnar, Beth E., Stanley B. Shade, *et al.* (1998). "Suicidal behavior and sexual/physical abuse among street youth." Child Abuse and Neglect 22(3):213-222.
- Molnar, J.M., W.R. Rath, and T.P. Klein (1990). "Constantly compromised: the impact of homelessness on children." Journal of Social Issues 46(4):109-124.
- Moon, Martha W., William McFarland, *et al.* "HIV risk behavior of runaway youth in San Francisco: age of onset and relation to sexual orientation." Youth and Society 32(2): 184-201.
- Morgan, Charles J. and Ana Mari Cauce (1999). Predicting DSM–III-R disorders from the youth self-report: analysis of data from a field study. Journal of the American Academy of Adolescent Psychiatry 38(10):1237-1245.
- National Coalition for the Homeless (1997). Rural homelessness. National Coalition for the Homeless, Fact Sheet No. 13. Http://nch.ari.net/rural.html (1998, November).
- National Council of Welfare (1997). Poverty Profile 1995. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services.
- National Network of Runaway and Youth Services (1991). To Whom Do They Belong? Runaway, Homeless and Other Youth in High-Risk Situations in the 1990s. Washington, DC: National Network of Runaway and Youth Services.
- National Research Council (1993). Losing Generations: Adolescents in High Risk Settings. Report of the Panel on High-Risk Youth. Commission on Behavioural and Social Sciences and Education, National Research Council. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Parry, Peny, Gary Tennant, and Tom Jopling (1996). Services to Street Youth in Vancouver: Perceptions of Service Providers. Vancouver: Interministerial Street Children's Committee, City of Vancouver Social Planning Department.

- Pennbridge, Julia., T. Freese, and Richard MacKenzie (1992). "High-risk behaviors among male street youth in Hollywood, California." AIDS Education Preview Fall Supplement:24-33.
- Podschun, Gary D. (1993). "Teen peer outreach-street work project: HIV prevention education for runaway and homeless youth." Public Health Reports 108(2):150-155.
- Powers, J. L., J. Eckenrode, and B. Jaklitsch (1990). "Maltreatment among runaway and homeless youth." Child Abuse and Neglect 14:87-98.
- Pries, S. and J. Silbert (1991). On Their Own: Runaway and Homeless Youth and Programs That Serve Them. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Child Development Center.
- Rafferty, Y. and M. Shinn (1991). "The impact of homelessness on children." American Psychologist 46:1170-1179.
- Read, S., et al. (1993). HIV Prevalence in Toronto Street Youth. Toronto: Hospital for Sick Children.
- Reuler, J. (1991). "Outreach health services for street youth." Journal of Adolescent Health 12: 561-566.
- Ringwalt, Christopher, Jody M. Greene, *et al.* (1998). "The prevalence of homelessness among adolescents in the United States. American Journal of Public Health 88(9):1325-1329.
- Robertson, M.J. and R. Clark (1995). Surviving for the Moment: A Report on Homeless Youth in San Francisco. Berkeley: Alcohol Research Group.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane (1993). "Suicidal behavior and risk factors among runaway youths." American Journal of Psychiatry 150:103-107.
- _____(1991). "Serving runaway and homeless youth." Family and Community Health 14(3): 23-32.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, Debra Murphy, *et al.* (1998). "A brief HIV intervention for adolescents and young adults." American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 68(4): 553-564.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, K.A. Mahler *et al.* (1996). "Sexual abuse history and associated multiple risk behavior in adolescent runaways. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 66: 390-400.

- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, M. Rosario, *et al.* (1995). "Predicting patterns of sexual acts among homosexual and bisexual youths." American Journal of Psychiatry 152:588-595.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, H. Meyer-Bahlburg, *et al.* (1992). "Lifetime sexual behavior among runaway males and females." Journal of Sex Research 29:15-29.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, H. Meyer-Bahlburg, M. Rosario *et al.* (1992). "Lifetime sexual behaviors among predominantly minority male runaways and gay/bisexual adolescents in New York City." Aids Education and Prevention Supplement:34-42.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane and C. Koopman (1991). Sexual risk behaviors, AIDS, knowledge, and beliefs about AIDS among runaways. American Journal of Public Health 81(2):208-211.
- Rotheram-Borus, Mary Jane, C. Koopman, *et al.* (1991). "Reducing HIV sexual risk behavior among runaway adolescents." Journal of the American Medical Association 266:1237-1241.
- Rothman, J. (1991). Runaway and Homeless Youth: Strengthening Services to Families and Children. New York: Longman.
- Roy, Elise, Nancy Haley, P. Lederc, *et al.* (2000). "Prevalence of HIV infection and risk behaviours among Montreal street youth." International Journal of STD and AIDS 11(4):241-247.
- Roy, Elise, Nancy Haley, Nicole Lemire, *et al.* (1999). "Hepatitis B virus infection among street youths in Montreal." Canadian Medical Association Journal 161(6):689-693.
- Roy, Elise, Nicole Lemire, Nancy Haley, *et al.* (1998). "Injection drug use among street youth: a dynamic process." Canadian Journal of Public Health 89(4):239-240.
- Roy, Elise, Jean-Francois Boivin, Nancy Haley, *et al.* (1998). "Mortality among street youth." Research Letters. The Lancet 352(7):32.
- Ryan, Kimberly D., Ryan P. Kilmer, *et al.* (2000). "Psychological consequences of child maltreatment I homeless adolescents: untangling the unique effects of maltreatment and family environment." Child Abuse and Neglect 24(3):333-352.
- Savin-Williams, R.C. (1994). "Verbal or physical abuse as stressors in the lives of lesbian, gay male, and bisexual youths." Journal of Consulting Clinical Psychology 62:261-269.
- Sellers, James B. (2000). "Learning and Earning:" A Model for Calgary's Street Youth. Calgary Street Youth Task Force Final Report. Calgary: Calgary Street Youth Task Force.

- Shane, Paul G. (1996). What About America's Homeless Children? Hide and Seek. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Sherman, Deborah J. (1992). "The neglected health care needs of street youth." Public Health Reports 107(4):433-440.
- Simms, M. (1998). Medical care of children who are homeless or in foster care. Current Opinion in Pediatrics 10:486-490.
- Simons, R. and L. Whitbeck (1991). "Sexual abuse as a precursor to prostitution and victimization among adolescent and adult homeless women." Journal of Family Issues 13:361-379.
- Smart, D.H. (1991). "Homeless youth in Seattle." Journal of Adolescent Health 12:519-527.
- Smart, Reginald G. and A. Ogborne (1994). Inner-city youths and condom use: health beliefs, clinic care, welfare, and the HIV epidemic. Adolescence 29(115):733-745.
- Smart, Reginald G. and Gordon W. Walsh (1993). "Predictors of depression in street youth." Adolescence 28(109):41-53.
- Smart, Reginald G., E.M. Adlaf, and Y. Zdanawicz (1992). Drifting and Doing: Changes in Drug Use Among Toronto Street Youth, 1990-1992. Toronto: Addiction Research Foundation.
- Smart, Reginald G. and E.M. Adlaf (1991). "Substance use and problems among Toronto street youth." British Journal of Addiction 86:999-1010.
- Smart, Reginald G. et al. (1990). Drugs, Youth and the Street. Toronto: Addictions Research Foundation.
- Smart, Reginald G. and A. Ogborne (1994). "Street youth in substance use treatment: characteristics and treatment compliance." Adolescence 155(115):733-745.
- Snow, David and Leon Anderson (1993). Down on Their Luck: A Study of Homeless Street People. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Sobo, Elisa J. *et al.* (1997). "Doubting the experts: AIDS misconceptions among runaway adolescents." Human Organization 56(3):311-320.

- Sondheimer, Diane (1992). HIV infection and disease among homeless adolescents. *In* R. DiClemente, ed., Adolescents and AIDS: A Generation in Jeopardy. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sosin, Michael, Irving Piliavin, and Ross L. Matsueda (1990). "Toward a longitudinal analysis of homelessness." Journal of Social Issues 46:157-174.
- Stefanidis, Nikolaos, Julia Pennbridge, *et al.* (1992). American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 62(3):442-446.
- Stiffman, A., P. Dore, and R. Cunningham 1994). Inner-city youths and condom use: health beliefs, clinic care, welfare, and the HIV epidemic. Adolescence 29(116):805-820.
- Stricof, R., J. Kennedy, *et al.* (1991). HIV seroprevalence in a facility for runaway and homeless adolescents. American Journal of Public Health 81 (Supplement):50-53.
- Stronge, J.H., ed. (1992). Educating Homeless Children and Adolescents: Evaluating Policy and Practice. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Sugerman, S.T., A.C. Hergenroeder, *et al.* (1991). "Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and adolescents: knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors of runaway and homeless youths." American Journal of Diseases in Children 145(4):431-436.
- Sullivan, T. Richard (1996). "The challenge of HIV prevention among high-risk adolescents." Health and Social Work 21(1):58-65.
- Sussman, Steve, Clyde W. Dent, *et al.* (1998). "One-Year Outcomes of Project Towards No Drug Abuse." Preventive Medicine 27:632-642.
- Teare, John F., Roger W. Peterson, *et al.* (1994). "Treatment implementation in a short-term emergency shelter program." Child Welfare 73(3):271-281.
- Terrell, Nathanial Eugene (1997). "Street life: aggravated and sexual assaults among homeless and runaway adolescents." Youth and Society 28(3):267-290.
- Tremblay, Pierre J. (1994). The Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Factor in the Youth Suicide Problem. http://www.virtualcity.com/youthsuicide/book.html

- Tupker, Elizabeth (2000). Concerned youth promoting harm reduction (CYPHR): a participatory research and development project with street involved youth. Paper presented to the 8th International Conference on the Reduction of Drug-Related Harm. March 24-27, 2000. Paris.
- Twaite, James A. and Diane Tirado Lampert (1997). "Outcomes of mandated preventive service programs for homeless and truant children: a follow-up study." Social Work 42(1):11-18.
- Vigil, James Diego (1996). "Street baptism: Chicano gang initiation." Human Organization 55(2):149-153.
- Vissing, Y.M. (1996). Out of Sight, Out of Mind: Homeless Children and Families in Small-Town America. Lexington: University Press of Kentucky.
- Wang, E.E., S. King, E. Goldberg, et al. (1991). Hepatitus B and human immunodeficiency virus infection in street youths in Toronto, Canada." Pediatric Infectious Diseases 10:130-133.
- Warr, Mark (1996). "Organization and instigation in delinquent groups." Criminology 34:11-37.
- Webber, Marlene (1991). Street Kids: The Tragedy of Canada's Runaways. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Whitbeck, Les B., Danny R. Hoyt, and Kevin A. Ackley (1999). "Abusive family backgrounds and later victimization among runaway and homeless youth." Journal of Adolescent Research.
- _____(1997). "Families of homeless and runaway adolescents: a comparison of parent/caretaker and adolescent perspectives on parenting, family violence, and adolescent conduct." Child Abuse and Neglect 21(6):517-528.
- Whitbeck, Les B. and Ronald S. Simons (1993). "A comparison of adaptive strategies and patterns of victimization among homeless adolescents and adults." Violence and Victims 8:135-184.
- ____(1990). "Life on the streets: the victimization of runaway and homeless adolescents." Youth and Society 22(1):108-25.
- Witt, Peter A. and John L. Crompton, eds. (1996). Recreation Programs That Work for At-Risk Youth: The Challenge of Shaping the Future. State College, Penn.: Venture Publishing.
- Wong, Siu Kwong (1999). "Acculturation, peer relations, and delinquent behavior of Chinese-Canadian youth." Adolescence 34(133):107-119.

- Wooden, Wayne (1995). Renegade Kids, Suburban Outlaws. Toronto: Wadsworth.
- Wright, Bradley R. Entner, Avshalom Caspi, *et al.* (1998). "Factors associated with doubled-up housing—a common precursor to homelessness." Social Service Review 72(1):92-111.
- Wright, Paul, Rich Harwell, and Lawrence Allen (1999). "Project STRIDE: a unique summer intervention program for youth-at-risk." Journal of Park and Recreation Administration 16(1):97-113.
- Yates, G.L., Richard G. MacKenzie, *et al.* (1991). "A risk profile comparison of homeless youth involved in prostitution and homeless youth not involved." Journal of Adolescent Health 12:545-548.
- Yoder, Kevin A., Dan R. Hoyt, and Les B. Whitbeck (1998). "Suicidal behavior among homeless and runaway adolescents." Journal of Youth and Adolescence 27(6):753-771.
- Ziesemer, C., L. Marcoux, and B.E. Maxwell (1994). "Homeless children: are they different from other low-income children?" Social Work 39:658-668.
- Zoerink, Dean, Anita H. Magafas, and Katharine A. Pawelko (1997). "Empowering youth at risk through community service." Child and Youth Care Forum 26(2):127-138.